The Endocrine Society's CLINICAL GUIDELINES

Evaluation and Treatment of Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency:

An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline



THE JOURNAL OF
CLINICAL
ENDOCRINOLOGY
& METABOLISM

Authors: Mark E. Molitch, David R. Clemmons, Saul Malozowski, George R. Merriam, and Mary Lee Vance

Affiliations: Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine (M.E.M.), Chicago, Illinois 60611; University of North Carolina School of Medicine (D.R.C.), Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599; National Institute of Diabetes, Digestive and Kidney Disease, National Institutes of Health (S.M.), Bethesda, Maryland 20892; Veterans Affairs Puget Sound Health Care System (G.R.M.), Seattle, Washington 98493; University of Washington School of Medicine (G.R.M.), Tacoma, Washington 09493; and University of Virginia Health Science Center (M.L.V.), Charlottesville, Virginia 22908

Disclaimer: Clinical Practice Guidelines are developed to be of assistance to endocrinologists and other health care professionals by providing guidance and recommendations for particular areas of practice. The Guidelines should not be considered inclusive of all proper approaches or methods, or exclusive of others. The Guidelines cannot guarantee any specific outcome, nor do they establish a standard of care. The Guidelines are not intended to dictate the treatment of a particular patient. Treatment decisions must be made based on the independent judgment of health care providers and each patient's individual circumstances.

The Endocrine Society makes no warranty, express or implied, regarding the Guidelines and specifically excludes any warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular use or purpose. The Society shall not be liable for direct, indirect, special, incidental, or consequential damages related to the use of the information contained herein.

First published in Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 96(6):1587–1609.

© The Endocrine Society, 2011





The Endocrine Society's CLINICAL GUIDELINES

Evaluation and Treatment of Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency:

An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline



THE JOURNAL OF
CLINICAL
ENDOCRINOLOGY
& METABOLISM

Table of Contents

Abstract	
Summary of Recommendations	
Method of Development of Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines	
Definition of GHD in Adults	
Diagnosis of GHD.	9
Consequences of GHD and Benefits of Treatment with GH	12
Side Effects and Risks Associated with GH Therapy.	18
Treatment Regimens	19
Conclusions	21
Appendix: Summary of Changes from the 2006 Guideline	21
References	
Order Form	
Reprint Information, Questions & Correspondences	Inside Back Cover

Abstract

Objective: The aim was to update The Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline on Evaluation and Treatment of Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency (GHD) previously published in 2006.

Participants: The Task Force consisted of a chair, selected by the the Clinical Guidelines Subcommittee of The Endocrine Society, four additional experts, a methodologist, and a medical writer. The Task Force received no corporate funding or renumeration.

Evidence: This evidence-based guideline was developed using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) system to describe both the strength of recommendations and the quality of evidence.

Consensus Process: Consensus was guided by systematic reviews of evidence and discussions through a series of conference calls and e-mails. An initial draft was prepared by the Task Force, with the help of a medical writer, and reviewed and commented on by members of The Endocrine Society. Assecond draft was reviewed and approved by The Endocrine Society Council. At each stage of review, the Task Force received written comments and incorporated substantive changes.

Conclusions: GHD can persist from childhood orbenewly acquired. Confirmation through stimulation testing is usually required unless there is a proven genetic/structural lesion persistent from childhood. GHtherapy offers benefits in body composition, exercise capacity, skeletal integrity, and quality of life measures and is most likely to benefit those patients who have more severe GHD. The risks associated with GH treatment are low. GH dosing regimens should be individualized. The final decision to treat adults with GHD requires thoughtful clinical judgment with a careful evaluation of the benefits and risks specific to the individual.

J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96(6):1587-1609

Abbreviations: AGHD, Adult GHD; BMD, bone mineral density; BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; DXA, dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry; GHD, GH deficiency; IGHD, isolated GHD; IMT, intima-media thickness; ITT, insulin tolerance test; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; LV, left ventricular; MPHD, multiple pituitary hormone deficiency; SMR, standardized mortality ratio.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

1.0. Definition of GH deficiency (GHD) in adults

- 1.1. We recommend that patients with childhood-onset GHD who are candidates for GH therapy after adult height achievement be retested for GHD unless they have known mutations, embryopathic lesions causing multiple hormone deficits, or irreversible structural lesions/damage (1 | \therefore
- 1.2. We recommend that adult patients with structural hypothalamic/pituitary disease, surgery or irradiation in these areas, head trauma, or evidence of other pituitary hormone deficiencies be considered for evaluation for acquired GHD (1 | \therefore \text{\text{\$\te
- 1.3. Idiopathic GHD in adults is very rare, and stringent criteria are necessary to make this diagnosis. Because in the absence of suggestive clinical circumstances there is a significant false-positive error rate in the response to a single GH stimulation test, we suggest the use of two tests before making this diagnosis. The presence of a low IGF-I also increases the likelihood that this diagnosis is correct (2 | $\oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$).

2.0. Diagnosis of GHD

- 2.1. We recommend that the insulin tolerance test (ITT) and the GHRH-arginine test have sufficient sensitivity and specificity to establish the diagnosis of GHD. However, in those with clearly established, recent (within 10 yr) hypothalamic causes of suspected GHD, *e.g.* irradiation, testing with GHRH-arginine may be misleading (1 | \text{ \text{\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\$\text{\$\text{\$\text{\$\$}\text{\$\$
- 2.2. We suggest that when GHRH is not available and performance of an ITT is either contraindicated or not practical in a given patient, the glucagon stimulation test can be used to diagnose GHD $(2 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc\bigcirc)$.

- 2.3. We recommend that because of the irreversible nature of the cause of the GHD in children with structural lesions with multiple hormone deficiencies and those with proven genetic causes, a low IGF-I level at least 1 month off GH therapy is sufficient documentation of persistent GHD without additional provocative testing $(1 \mid \bigoplus \bigoplus)$.
- 2.4. We recommend that a normal IGF-I level does not exclude the diagnosis of GHD but makes provocative testing mandatory to make the diagnosis of GHD (1 | \therefore \therefor
- 2.5. We recommend that the presence of deficiencies in three or more pituitary axes strongly suggests the presence of GHD, and in this context provocative testing is optional (1 | $\oplus \oplus \ominus \ominus$).

Consequences of GHD and benefits of treatment with GH

- 3.1. We recommend that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults offers significant clinical benefits in body composition and exercise capacity (1 | \$\infty\$.
- 3.2. We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults offers significant clinical benefits in skeletal integrity $(2 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc)$.
- 3.3. We recommend after documentation of persistent GHD that GH therapy be continued after completion of adult height to obtain full skeletal/muscle maturation during the transition period (1 | \(\phi\)\(\phi\)\(\phi\)).
- 3.4. We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults improves several cardiovascular surrogate outcomes, including endothelial function, inflammatory cardiovascular biomarkers, lipoprotein metabolism, carotid intima-media thickness (IMT), and aspects of myocardial function, but tends to increase insulin resistance (2 | \therefore \to \infty).

- 3.5. We suggest that, although mortality is increased in patients with hypopituitarism and GHD has been implicated in this, GH has not yet been shown to improve mortality (2 | ⊕○○○).
- 3.6. We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults improves the quality of life of most patients $(2 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc)$.

4.0. Side effects and risks associated with GH therapy

- 4.1. We recommend that treatment is contraindicated in the presence of an active malignancy $(1 \mid \oplus \bigcirc\bigcirc)$.
- 4.2. We recommend that GH treatment in patients with diabetes mellitus may require adjustments in antidiabetic medications $(1 \mid \bigcirc\bigcirc\bigcirc)$.
- 4.3. We suggest that thyroid and adrenal function be monitored during GH therapy of adults with GHD (2 | ⊕⊕○○).

5.0. Treatment regimens

- 5.1. We recommend that GH dosing regimens be individualized rather than weight-based and start with low doses and be titrated according to clinical response, side effects, and IGF-I levels (1 | \(\pi\)).
- 5.2. We recommend that GH dosing take gender, estrogen status, and age into consideration (1 | DDDD).
- 5.3. We suggest that during GH treatment, patients be monitored at 1- to 2-month intervals during dose titration and semiannually thereafter with a clinical assessment and an evaluation for adverse effects, IGF-I levels, and other parameters of GH response (2 | \(\phi\)\(\phi\)\(\phi\)).

METHOD OF DEVELOPMENT OF EVIDENCE-BASED CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES

The Clinical Guidelines Subcommittee of The Endocrine Society deemed the subject of adult GH deficiency (AGHD) a priority area in need of practice guidelines and appointed a Task Force to formulate evidence-based recommendations. This was initially published in 2006 (1), and the Guideline has now been updated using more recently published information. A summary of the changes between the 2006 and 2011 publication is provided in the Appendix. This current version is an evidence-based guideline that was developed using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) system to describe the strength of recommendations and the quality of evidence. The GRADE group is an international group with expertise in development and implementation of evidence-based guidelines. A detailed description of the grading scheme has been published elsewhere (2). The Task Force used the best available research evidence identified to develop the recommendations. The Task Force also used consistent language and graphical descriptions of both the strength of a recommendation and the quality of evidence. In terms of the strength of the recommendation, strong recommendations use the phrase "we recommend" and the number 1, and weak recommendations use the phrase "we suggest" and the number 2. Cross-filled circles indicate the quality of the evidence, such that \oplus denotes very low quality evidence; OOO, low quality; $\oplus \oplus \ominus$, moderate quality; and $\oplus \oplus \ominus$, high quality. The final category may include circumstances in which there is a consistent observation of uniformly poor serious outcomes that will not reverse spontaneously, but when treated, often through surgical means, may dramatically improve or be cured. The Task Force has confidence that persons who receive care according to the strong recommendations will derive, on average, more good than harm. Weak recommendations require more careful consideration of the person's individual circumstances, values, and

preferences to determine the best course of action. Linked to each *recommendation* is a description of the *evidence* and the *values* that panelists considered in making the recommendation; in some instances, there are *remarks*, a section in which panelists offer technical suggestions for testing conditions, dosing, and monitoring. These technical comments reflect the best available evidence applied to a typical person being treated. This evidence often comes from the unsystematic observations of the panelists and their values and preferences; therefore, these remarks should be considered suggestions.

All GH in clinical use is biosynthetic human GH with a biopotency of 3 IU/mg, using the World Health Organization (WHO) reference preparation 88/624 (3). GH is currently approved by regulatory agencies for treatment of GHD in children and also for short stature due to causes other than GHD, such as Turner's or Noonan's syndrome, renal failure, *short stature homeobox* (SHOX) deficiency, small size for gestational age in patients who fail to catch-up to the normal growth percentiles, Prader-Willi syndrome, and idiopathic short stature. In the past, GH therapy has generally been discontinued once adult height has been achieved. Continuation of GH treatment in GH deficient children after achievement of adult height will be discussed below.

GH treatment of GH-deficient adults has been approved since 1996, with the accumulation of much clinical experience. Although treatment appears to be safe overall, certain areas continue to require long-term surveillance, such as risks of glucose intolerance, pituitary/hypothalamic tumor recurrence, and cancer. Benefits of GH treatment of GH-deficient adults have been found in body composition, bone health, cardiovascular risk factors, and quality of life. However, reductions in cardiovascular events and mortality have yet to be demonstrated, and treatment costs remain high.

It is the purpose of this Guideline to summarize information regarding adult GHD (AGHD), including information published since the previous Guideline (1). GH treatment has not been approved by the Food and Drug Administration as an antiaging treatment, and this unapproved use will not be discussed in this Guideline. The decision to treat adults with GHD

requires a thoughtful and individualized evaluation of the benefits and risks. Furthermore, periodic reevaluation of treatment is warranted.

1.0. DEFINITION OF GHD IN ADULTS

Adults with GHD can be grouped into those who had prior childhood GHD, those who acquire GHD secondary to structural lesions or trauma, and those with idiopathic GHD. Childhood GHD is generally further divided into those with organic causes and those in whom the cause is not known (*i.e.* idiopathic GHD).

1.1. Recommendation

We recommend that patients with childhood-onset GHD who are candidates for GH therapy after achievement of adult height be retested for GHD as adults unless they have known mutations, embryopathic lesions causing multiple hormone deficits, or irreversible structural lesions/damage (1 | DDDD).

1.1. Evidence

Mutations in early-appearing transcription factors tend to cause multiple pituitary hormone deficiencies (MPHD), whereas others can cause isolated deficiencies (4, 5) (Table 1).

Four types of Mendelian disorders of the GH gene have been described (6). Isolated GHD (IGHD) IA and IB are inherited in an autosomal recessive manner resulting in undetectable or very low GH levels. IGHD II is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner with variable clinical severity. IGHD III is an X-linked disorder often associated with hypogammaglobulinemia.

GHD has also been reported due to mutations of the gene encoding the GHRH receptor (7), mutations in the GS α gene leading to GHR H resistance (8), and mutations in the gene for the GH secretagogue receptor (9).

TABLE 1. Causes of GHD (1)

Congenital

Genetic

- Transcription factor defects (PIT-1, PROP-1, LHX3/4, HESX-1, PITX-2)
- GHRH receptor gene defects
- GH secretagogue receptor gene defects
- GH gene defects
- GH receptor/post receptor defects

Associated with brain structural defects

- Agenesis of corpus callosum
- Septo-optic dysplasia
- Empty sella syndrome
- Holoprosencephaly
- Encephalocele
- Hydrocephalus
- Arachnoid cyst

Associated with midline facial defects

- Single central incisor
- Cleft lip/palate

Acquired

Trauma

- Perinatal
- Postnatal

Central nervous system infection

Tumors of hypothalamus or pituitary

- Pituitary adenoma
- Craniopharyngioma
- Rathke's cleft cyst
- Glioma/astrocytoma
- Germinoma
- Metastatic
- Other

Infiltrative/granulomatous disease

- Langerhans cell histiocytosis
- Sarcoidosis
- Tuberculosis
- Hypophysitis
- Other

Cranial irradiation

Surgery of the pituitary or hypothalamus

Infarction

- Spontaneous
- Sheehan's syndrome

Idiopathic

GHD is occasionally associated with congenital anatomical changes in the pituitary region or other structures of the brain, usually in association with other pituitary hormone deficiencies (4, 10, 11), as listed in Table 1.

Congenital GHD is often associated with a variety of hypothalamic-stalk-pituitary anatomical abnormalities, ranging from pituitary hypoplasia to stalk agenesis, and the posterior pituitary may appear "ectopically" located adjacent to the hypothalamus (11). Although multiple hormonal deficits are usually found in such a setting, IGHD is sometimes found; later testing for GHD after adult height is achieved shows persistent GHD primarily in those with multiple hormone deficiencies (10). Therefore, even in those with such anatomic defects shown on magnetic resonance imaging, retesting is necessary in the presence of IGHD.

Tumors in the pituitary and hypothalamic area may cause hypopituitarism primarily or after treatment with surgery and/or irradiation. The most common tumors are pituitary adenomas and craniopharyngiomas; others are listed in Table 1.

Infiltrative diseases (Langerhans cell histiocytosis, sarcoidosis, tuberculosis) of the hypothalamus and stalk commonly cause hypopituitarism and diabetes insipidus. Lymphocytic hypophysitis usually involves the pituitary and stalk.

GH status evolves with time after cranial radiotherapy and depends on dose (12). The younger the patient, the longer the interval after radiotherapy, and the higher the dose, the greater the chance of developing GHD after irradiation. There is a greater than 50% likelihood of GHD if the biological effective dose is greater than 40 Gy (13).

In nearly all series, idiopathic is the category that accounts for most individuals with childhood GHD (14–20). In these studies, all patients were documented biochemically to be GH deficient in childhood, but at reassessment in adulthood, most with idiopathic GHD had normal GH responses when tested. This finding raises interesting questions about the nature of the defect in GH secretion during

childhood in this group. The diagnostic threshold for GHD is arbitrarily defined, and there is poor reproducibility of the GH response to provocative testing within individuals. On these grounds alone, it would be anticipated that a considerable number of those considered GH deficient at one time might be normal at reevaluation. Furthermore, it is likely that in a proportion of these patients, the childhood diagnosis was constitutional delay in growth and puberty and not isolated idiopathic GHD, but the initial GH provocative tests carried out without estrogen "priming" failed to make this distinction (19). Finally, it remains possible that transient GHD in childhood is a real entity, although longitudinally obtained proof is lacking. Because of the greater GH requirements for normal growth in children, it is possible that in some patients the GHD was partial but severe enough to prevent normal growth as a child and not severe enough to cause symptoms or meet criteria for GHD as an adult.

In contrast to the population with isolated idiopathic GHD, young adults diagnosed as having organic GHD in childhood, as a consequence of a mass lesion, pituitary surgery, high-dose irradiation damage to the hypothalamic-pituitary axis, or a combination of these, much less commonly revert to normal GH status (18). Those with genetic defects do not revert to normal GH status.

1.2. Recommendation

We recommend that adult patients with structural hypothalamic/pituitary disease, surgery or irradiation in these areas, head trauma, or evidence of other pituitary hormone deficiencies be considered for evaluation for acquired GHD (1 | $\oplus \oplus \oplus \oplus$).

1.2. Evidence

The most common cause of GHD in adults is a pituitary adenoma or treatment of the adenoma with pituitary surgery and/or radiotherapy. It has generally been thought that pituitary microadenomas are very rarely associated with hypopituitarism. However, one study has shown that 42% of patients with clinically nonfunctioning microadenomas had GH responses below 4.1 µg/liter to GHRH arginine (see Section 2.1.

Evidence—for criteria for this test), although they all had normal IGF-I levels (21). Macroadenomas are more frequently associated with pituitary hormone deficiencies, with 30–60% having one or more anterior pituitary hormone deficiencies (22). The likely mechanism of hypopituitarism in most patients is compression of the portal vessels in the pituitary stalk, secondary to either the expanding tumor mass directly or raised intrasellar pressure (23). Derangement of central endocrine regulation also occurs with parapituitary space-occupying lesions such as craniopharyngiomas, Rathke's cleft cysts, arachnoid cysts, meningiomas, dysgerminomas, metastatic tumors, and astrocytomas/gliomas.

Hypopituitarism can be a consequence of pituitary surgery and depends upon tumor size, the degree of infiltration, and the experience of the surgeon. However, up to 50% of patients recover at least one pituitary hormone that had been deficient after transsphenoidal surgery (24–26). Postoperative improvement is more likely if there is no tumor on postoperative imaging and no neurosurgical or pathological evidence that the tumor is invasive (26). GH is less likely to recover than gonadotropins, ACTH, and TSH (24). When there is recovery of pituitary function, it occurs immediately after surgery (25).

Irradiation commonly causes hypopituitarism, which is progressive over time. By 10 yr after conventional, fractionated irradiation, varying degrees of hypopituitarism are present in over 50% of patients (27, 28). Single dose, stereotactic radiotherapy also leads to hypopituitarism, and preliminary data suggest a similar rate (29).

Traumatic brain injury and subarachnoid hemorrhage have been reported to cause GHD and varying degrees of transient or permanent hypopituitarism in more than 25% of patients (30–32). Pituitary function should be tested on admission to the hospital and at intervals thereafter because some acute changes resolve over time, whereas others appear at later times. With chronic, repetitive, milder head trauma, such as in boxers, it is uncertain when hypopituitarism develops, but it seems to be related to prior concussive episodes (33).

1.3. Recommendation

Idiopathic GHD in adults is very rare, and stringent criteria are necessary to make this diagnosis. Because in the absence of suggestive clinical circumstances there is a significant false-positive error rate in the response to a single GH stimulation test, we suggest the use of two tests before making this diagnosis. The presence of a low IGF-I also increases the likelihood that this diagnosis is correct (2 | $\oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc$).

1.3. Evidence

As defined by strict hormonal criteria, adult-onset idiopathic GHD is very rare. There is no single biological marker in an adult who is suspected of being GH deficient that offers the same diagnostic usefulness as the growth rate of a child. GH is usually the first of the anterior pituitary hormones to be affected by pathological insults. Consequently, in a patient with MPHD, the probability of GHD is extremely high. No studies documenting a transition from isolated, idiopathic GHD to multiple pituitary hormone losses have been reported.

A much more difficult issue concerns the patient in whom a diagnosis of isolated idiopathic GHD of adult onset is being considered. Truncal obesity will be present, and it is now established in clinically nonobese healthy adults that relative adiposity, in the abdominal region in particular, is associated with a blunted GH response to stimulation (34, 35); hence, GH status will often appear to be subnormal. Obesity per se is almost always associated with a normal IGF-I level. Therefore, the confidence level in concluding that idiopathic GHD is present in obese individuals is greatly strengthened by the presence of an IGF-I level below the age-corrected lower limit of normal.

2.0. DIAGNOSIS OF GHD

Clinically, adults with GHD tend to have a relative increase in fat mass and a relative decrease in muscle mass and, in many instances, decreased energy and quality of life. These characteristics are obviously

nonspecific. The next step in such an evaluation is hormonal testing, but because even the best available methods for testing are imprecise, their overall accuracy depends heavily on the pretest probability of GHD. Thus, in general, a workup for GHD should not be undertaken except in the context of "probable cause"—either a childhood history of GHD or a clinical context making GHD likely.

2.1. Recommendation

We recommend that the ITT and the GHRH-arginine test have sufficient sensitivity and specificity to establish the diagnosis of GHD. However, in those with clearly established recent (within 10 yr) hypothalamic causes of suspected GHD, *e.g.* irradiation, testing with GHRH-arginine may be misleading (1 | \(\phi\phi\phi\phi\phi\)).

2.1. Evidence

Patients should be adequately replaced with other deficient hormones before any testing of GH secretion is performed. GH is secreted in an episodic manner; multiple sampling of GH levels would be ideal, but it is not a practical procedure in clinical practice. For this reason, current diagnostic testing uses provocative tests of GH secretion. However, these tests have significant intrinsic false-positive error rates. Additionally, the ITT, which has been considered the most extensively validated "gold standard" test, may carry increased risk in patients with seizure disorders or cardiovascular disease and requires constant monitoring even in healthy adults, although it is quite safe in experienced hands. Aimaretti et al. (36) showed that the combined administration of arginine, which presumably reduces hypothalamic somatostatin secretion, and GHRH is safe and provides a strong stimulus to GH secretion and thus could be used as an alternative test of pituitary GHD.

A study evaluated the relative performance of GHRH arginine, the ITT, arginine alone, clonidine, levodopa, and the combination of arginine plus levodopa (37). The five tests were administered in random order to 39 patients with MPHD; to 21 patients with one or no pituitary deficiency other than GH; and to 34 sex-, age-, and body mass index (BMI)-matched controls.

The overall performance of the GHRH-arginine test, with 95% sensitivity and 91% specificity at a GH cutoff of 4.1 µg/liter at the central laboratory used, compared well to the ITT, which had an optimal GH cutoff of 5.1 µg/liter (96% sensitivity and 92% specificity). The performance of the other tests was much poorer. As expected, the discriminating power of all tests was reduced in patients with fewer pituitary hormone deficits, i.e. the patients posing the greatest diagnostic challenge, but again the GHRH-arginine test performed almost as well as the ITT. Because the GHRH-arginine test is generally well tolerated and does not cause hypoglycemia, it is gaining wider use for patients with suspected GHD of pituitary origin. However, because GHRH directly stimulates the pituitary, it can give a falsely normal GH response in patients with GHD of hypothalamic origin, e.g. those having received irradiation of the hypothalamic-pituitary region (38).

2.1. Values and preferences

The production of the only commercially available formulation of GHRH in the United States was discontinued in 2008, making it at least temporarily unavailable. This has focused more interest on the use of alternative tests, including glucagon (see Recommendation 3.2). The use of ghrelin-mimetic GH secretagogues, such as GH-releasing peptide-2 and -6 or nonpeptide ghrelin mimetics, as a test for GHD has been proposed. These agents require the ability to release endogenous GHRH, which synergizes with their weak direct pituitary effect, to evoke a normal GH response, and in some studies they have been shown to produce responses similar to ITT but with only minimal side effects (39). However, these compounds are not yet commercially available.

2.1. Remarks

Biochemical criteria for the diagnosis of AGHD are complicated by the lack of normative data that are age-, sex-, and BMI-adjusted; by assay variability; and by the stimulus used. With polyclonal RIA, the cutoff values for stimulated GH levels for diagnosing AGHD were established at levels between 3 and 5 μ g/liter (40). Whether lower cutoffs should be used with

the newer, more sensitive, two-site assays has not been definitively determined. Still, according to the multicenter study cited above (37), which used a sensitive, immunochemiluminescent two-site assay, the values of $5.1 \,\mu\text{g}/\text{liter}$ for the ITT and $4.1 \,\mu\text{g}/\text{liter}$ for GHRH-arginine test had sufficient specificity and sensitivity for the diagnosis of AGHD.

Several European studies have proposed much higher cut-points with the GHRH-arginine test for diagnosing AGHD, and this appears to be related to BMI. Corneli et al. (41) showed that the appropriate cut-points for diagnosing GHD were 11.5 µg/liter for those with a BMI less than 25 kg/m², 8.0 µg/liter for a BMI of 25–30 kg/m², and 4.2 μ g/liter for those with a BMI greater than 30 kg/m². These results are not in conflict with the data of Biller et al. (37), however, because the average BMI of their patients with multiple hormone deficiencies was 30.5 kg/m², and that of their controls was 30.3 kg/m². These data were confirmed in a subsequent larger study in which progressively lower GH cut-points were also observed with age (34). Thus, it would be reasonable to use different cutpoints according to BMI for the GHRHarginine test. Although a similar decrease in the GH response in an ITT to increasing BMI has been shown (35), an analysis of different GH cut-points for different BMI levels to diagnose GHD has not yet been done.

2.2. Recommendation

We suggest that when GHRH is not available and performance of an ITT is either contraindicated or not practical in a given patient, the glucagon stimulation test can be used to diagnose GHD (2 | \bigoplus).

2.2. Evidence

When glucagon is used as a stimulation test, the release of GH may be delayed as compared with other secretagogues, and monitoring GH over at least 3 h is recommended. The mechanism by which glucagon stimulates GH is not entirely clear and may involve secondary stimulation of endogenous insulin release. This mandates caution in monitoring glucose as well, checking for possible delayed hypoglycemia. On the basis of data from relatively small series, a cut-point of

between 2.5 and 3 μ g/liter seems to have appropriate specificity and sensitivity for the diagnosis of GHD; however, obesity may also blunt the response (42–44).

2.3. Recommendation

We recommend that because of the irreversible nature of the cause of the GHD in children with structural lesions with multiple hormone deficiencies and those with proven genetic causes, a low IGF-I level at least 1 month off GH therapy is sufficient documentation of persistent GHD without additional provocative testing (1 | \$\pi\$\$\pi\$\$\pi\$\$).

2.3. Evidence

The transition from pediatric to adult care is an appropriate time for reassessment of GH status. Patients with a high likelihood of having permanent GHD are those who have MPHD and a serum IGF-I concentration below the normal range (off GH therapy) if associated with one or more of the following: 1) a radiologically confirmed congenital anomaly in the sellar or suprasellar region; 2) known acquired hypothalamic-pituitary disease, e.g. craniopharyngioma; 3) previous surgery for lesions directly affecting the hypothalamic-pituitary region or radiotherapy for malignant disease that included a high dose of irradiation to the hypothalamic-pituitary region; and 4) a proven genetic/molecular defect involving the capacity to secrete GH. If children in these categories have a low IGF-I level on no GH treatment, this generally suffices to document continuing GHD.

Those children with idiopathic GHD, either isolated or with one additional hormone deficit, are less likely to have permanent GHD and should be retested in early adulthood using the stimulation tests outlined above.

Testing should be conducted after discontinuation of GH treatment for at least 1 month to avoid possible suppression of endogenous responses. (No formal studies have addressed this interval, and this recommendation is based on personal practice.)

2.3. Remarks

Some studies suggest that the cut-points for diagnosing GHD in adolescents and young adults may be higher than those for older adults with levels of 19.0 and 6.1 μ g/liter for GHRH-arginine and the ITT, respectively (45, 46). Similarly, Secco *et al.* (47) found a cut-point of 5.6 μ g/liter for young adults in the transition period. Colao *et al.* (34) also found that individuals older than 65 yr have even lower cut-points than do middle-aged adults. Further studies are needed to validate different cut-points for distinct patient populations.

2.4. Recommendation

We recommend that a normal IGF-I level does not exclude the diagnosis of GHD but makes provocative testing mandatory to making the diagnosis of GHD (1 | \therefore \

2.4. Evidence

Having normal levels of IGF-I does not exclude a diagnosis of GHD in adults (37, 48–50). Just as an increase in BMI will blunt the GH response to various stimuli, so will it increase the IGF-I level even in individuals with well-documented GHD (51). However, IGF-I can be of some diagnostic assistance if levels are below the age-adjusted normal range. Therefore, a low IGF-I level may help to distinguish true GHD from simply a blunted GH response in a person with increased BMI. Issues regarding estrogen therapy and GH action are discussed in Section 5.2.

2.5. Recommendation

We recommend that the presence of deficiencies in three or more pituitary axes strongly suggests the presence of GHD, and in this context, provocative testing is optional (1 | $\oplus \oplus \oplus \ominus$).

2.5. Evidence

Several studies involving panhypopituitary patients have shown that under certain circumstances GH stimulation tests may be unnecessary to diagnose AGHD (35, 52, 53). The proportion of patients with low GH responses to provocative testing increases with the number of other pituitary hormone deficiencies (48, 53). The presence of three or more other deficits, together with a low serum IGF-I level (<84 ng/ml in the assay used for this publication), was as specific a predictor as any of the GH provocative tests employed (48). Thus, one might conclude that GH testing could be omitted in these patients. Not all insurers' requirements, however, have been modified to reflect this information, and many still require the results of a GH stimulation test.

3.0. CONSEQUENCES OF GHD AND BENEFITS OF TREATMENT WITH GH

The benefits of treatment with GH among patients with GHD occur in several domains: body composition, bone health, cardiovascular risk factors, and quality of life. Mortality is increased in patients with hypopituitarism, and the role of GHD in this mortality will be discussed.

3.1. Recommendation

We recommend that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults offers significant clinical benefits in body composition and exercise capacity (1 | \$\infty\$).

3.1. Evidence

One of the most consistent responses to GH administration is increased lipolysis. Before treatment, AGHD patients often have increased fat mass, with a preferential increase in visceral fat (54–56). Several studies have found significant decreases in total body fat content in response to GH therapy (56–58). Using computed tomography scanning, some investigators

have reported a preferential effect of GH on visceral fat (59–61). This change occurs within 6 months after the initiation of therapy, and it is maintained if treatment is continued.

Untreated adults with GHD have also been shown to have decreased lean body mass compared with ageand sex-matched controls (55, 62). There is usually an increase in muscle mass in response to GH; however, the degree of change is less than the reduction in fat mass (61, 63-66). Several studies have attempted to determine whether this change in muscle mass results in increased strength and/or exercise capacity. Some, but not all, studies have shown increases in isometric or isokinetic strength (59, 61, 67-71). In studies of 1- to 5-yr duration, the increase in strength that is attained is not equal to that of control subjects without GHD; however, a recent 10-yr observational study showed that isometric knee flexor strength returned to 104-110% of predicted and hand grip strength increased to 88-93% (72). In some, but not all, short- and long-term studies, exercise capacity and physical performance have been improved by GH therapy, with parameters such as maximal oxygen consumption and maximum work capacity being significantly increased (70, 71, 73-76). Some studies using lower GH doses have failed to show improvement in work capacity (77).

Patients who are transitioning from the period in which linear growth ceases to the development of adult body composition represent a unique group in which to evaluate the benefits of GH replacement therapy because of the degree of change that occurs during this developmental period in normal young adults. Many of the studies that have been conducted have used patients who had had GH discontinued for several years. Despite this limitation, several studies have shown that reinitiation of GH therapy decreases truncal fat, increases lean body mass, and increases bone mineral density (BMD) (78–81).

3.1. Remarks

Evaluation of untreated GH-deficient patients has indicated that there is a relative decrease in extracellular fluid volume (82). After short-term administration, there is a reequilibration (83), and long-term,

controlled comparisons have shown that the gain in extracellular water is approximately 1 kg (82, 84). The mechanism of this increase is increased tubular reabsorption of sodium in the distal nephron. This is accompanied by an increase in plasma renin activity and decreased brain natriuretic peptide levels. There is no change in glomerular filtration rate, renal plasma flow, or proximal tubular sodium reabsorption. Because this change is dependent upon GH dose, higher doses of GH can cause peripheral edema. In one double-blinded, placebo-controlled study, 15% of patients developed edema during a 12-month treatment period, whereas 3.6% of placebo patients developed this complication (65).

3.2. Recommendation

We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults offers significant clinical benefits in skeletal integrity $(2 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc)$.

3.2. Evidence

Multiple studies have shown that BMD in adults severely deficient in GH is approximately 1 SD score below the mean (85–87), even when the possible effects of hypogonadism or glucocorticoid overreplacement are considered (85, 86, 88). Approximately 20% of adult-onset and 35% of childhood-onset adult patients with GHD have BMD T-scores of 2.5 or less (the threshold for the diagnosis of osteoporosis). The age of onset of GHD strongly affects the severity of osteopenia. Whether their GHD is adult onset or childhood onset, patients younger than 30 yr have the most severe osteopenia, whereas subjects older than 60 yr do not differ from controls without GHD. Subjects between 30 and 45 yr of age have intermediate severity (89). The severity of GHD correlates with the severity of osteopenia (90). GH-deficient children who do not receive replacement therapy during puberty and after reaching adult height have reduced peak bone mass, which is not normally reached until a decade after linear growth ceases (91).

Histologically,GHD patients show an increase in the volume of trabecular bone, increased resorption, and increased osteoid thickness, suggesting delayed

mineralization (92). Fracture rates are increased 2- to 5-fold, compared with rates in non-GHD control populations (93–95). Levels of circulating and urinary markers of bone resorption and formation are variable, however, and therefore are not routinely recommended for clinical practice.

GH replacement has an eventual overall anabolic effect on bone, but its effects are complex and the results biphasic. GH stimulates both bone formation and resorption (96, 97). Before 12 months of treatment, measurements of BMD by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) may not increase and may even show a decrease (97, 98). After 18-24 months of treatment, however, most studies have shown increases of 4-10%in BMD, generally with greater effects at vertebral than at femoral sites (96, 99, 100). Those subjects with the greatest severity of bone mineral loss (Z scores worse than -2) had the greatest improvement in response to treatment (101). Men respond better to GH than women (102, 103). Total body BMD has been shown to continue to increase over 10 yr of GH replacement, but effects in the hip may plateau after 5 yr (104), and one study suggests that in patients who remain osteopenic, adding a bisphosphonate may result in further improvement (105). This study suggests a beneficial effect of this combined therapy on fracture risk; to date, however, there are no reports of controlled studies of the effects of long-term GH replacement on the fracture rate in AGHD patients.

3.3. Recommendation

We recommend after documentation of persistent GHD that GH therapy be continued after completion of adult height to obtain full skeletal/muscle maturation during the transition period (1 | DDC).

3.3. Evidence

Special considerations pertain to childhood-onset GHD and the transition to adulthood. Any evaluation of BMD in these patients has to take into account volumetric assessment. Some of these patients may not have reached their true potential maximum bone volume and may continue to increase bone volume with GH therapy. DXA scanning does not directly

measure bone volume, although correction formulas can be applied (106).

An important question is whether these transition patients require GH replacement beyond the time of their reaching adult height to achieve normal peak bone mass. In normal adults, 95% peak bone mass is achieved by the mid-twenties, occurring later in men than women (107). However, subjects with hypopituitarism due to delayed onset of puberty or lack of normal gonadotropin secretion may lag behind in terms of the age at which they reach peak bone mass (108). After discontinuation of GH therapy, there is a reduced acquisition of bone mineral content (109-111). This discontinuation of therapy usually occurs at ages 15-17 vr, the ages when normal subjects are still increasing bone mass. An important issue is whether therapy should be maintained or reinstituted at least until these subjects reach peak bone mass. Four studies have demonstrated that continuing/reinstituting GH therapy for periods of up to 2 yr in patients who had completed growth resulted in significantly greater BMD than that in patients who had equally severe GHD but received no treatment (81, 100, 102, 108), but one study did not (112). Overall, these studies suggest, therefore, that patients with childhood-onset GHD who have low age-adjusted bone mineral content would benefit from continued treatment. As noted above, most of these studies also show improvement in the ratio of lean body mass to fat mass when GH is continued/reinstituted during this transition period (80, 112–115).

3.3. Values and preferences

These findings suggest that GHD patients should have a DXA measurement of BMD before treatment and, if it is abnormal, at least every 2 yr thereafter. They particularly highlight the possible detrimental effects of stopping GH treatment for more than 18 months during the transition from pediatric to adult GH replacement, when linear growth has ceased but bone mass continues to accrue and changes in muscle/fat are continuing. Thus, if GH treatment is interrupted at this time, retesting and reinstitution of transitional and then adult GH doses should be completed as expeditiously as possible.

3.4. Recommendation

We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults improves several cardiovascular surrogate outcomes, including endothelial function, inflammatory cardiovascular biomarkers, lipoprotein metabolism, carotid IMT, and aspects of myocardial function, but tends to increase insulin resistance (2 | $\oplus \oplus \odot$).

3.4. Evidence

GH has both direct effects on vascular function and effects mediated through IGF-I that may oppose these direct effects. In general, most of the cardiovascular risk that has been defined in patients with GHD appears to be related to four areas of pathophysiology: hypertension, inflammation, dyslipidemia, and insulin resistance. In severe GHD, patients tend to be substantially more hypertensive, and this condition results in impaired vasodilatation responses to stress and/or exercise (116, 117). Importantly, GH replacement therapy has been shown to increase flow-mediated dilatation and to reduce arterial stiffness (118).GH has been shown to improve vascular endothelial function, which probably contributes to the changes in vascular tone that have been observed (119). In large trials, GH replacement has resulted in a slight decrease in blood pressure (120).

Inflammatory markers are elevated in patients with GHD, and administration of GH reduces C-reactive protein (121, 122). A placebo-controlled trial showed that GH decreased apolipoprotein B and C-reactive protein significantly in 55 adults who were treated for 9 months (123). GH also affects lipoprotein metabolism. Increased total and lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and elevated apolipoprotein B-100 have been reported in 26-45% of GH-deficient adults (124). Most, but not all, studies have shown increases in high-density lipoprotein and decreases in LDL and total cholesterol after institution of GH replacement therapy (57, 60, 66, 120, 125-129). One large observational study (n = 1206) reported a 7% reduction in total and LDL cholesterol that was maintained for 2 yr (125). However, no studies have determined whether GH has an additive effect over and above optimum therapy with "statins"; therefore, this remains an open question.

Increased IMT and abnormal arterial wall dynamics have been documented in GHD (117, 130–132). One study showed that subjects with a low IGF-I had the greatest increase in IMT (130). Several studies have shown that administration of GH to GH-deficient adults and/or children results in decreased IMT (127, 133–136). In epidemiological studies, increases in IMT have predicted the development of symptomatic coronary disease occurring approximately 8 yr after the initial measurements (137). This finding suggests that patients with an IMT response may have a significant improvement in cardiovascular outcome, but as yet this question has not been specifically analyzed in patients with GHD.

Cardiac function may also be significantly impaired in GHD. Patients with childhood-onset GHD had reduced left ventricular (LV), posterior wall, and interventricular septal thickness and LV diameter and mass as evaluated by echocardiography (138, 139). In GHD patients younger than 40 yr, whether their GHD was of adult or childhood onset, there was LV systolic dysfunction at rest and after peak physical exercise as compared with control subjects (73, 140, 141). Analysis of several studies has shown that the most consistent increases after GH administration were in LV mass, LV end diastolic volume, and stroke volumes (141). A small study with 10 subjects demonstrated improvement of cardiac contractility (142). It is possible that changes in these parameters correlate with the reported subjective benefits in increased exercise tolerance and energy that have been reported by GH-deficient patients after replacement therapy.

3.4. Remarks

The net effect of GH replacement on insulin resistance is difficult to predict. GH replacement lowers fat mass, and increasing IGF-I improves insulin sensitivity (143). However, GH also has direct insulin antagonistic effects in the liver and other tissues. Insulin clamp studies have shown that if high doses of GH are given, then insulin sensitivity deteriorates acutely as a result of increased free fatty acid release and possibly leads to increased intramyocellular

triglyceride accumulation (58, 144–146). However, low doses of GH given for 6–12 months cause no change in sensitivity (58, 144–147). One recent study showed an improvement in homeostasis model of assessment (HOMA) index (135). Because individual patients have differential sensitivity in these parameters, it is not surprising that some show a worsening of insulin sensitivity after administration of GH, whereas others show little change. In a 4-yr study, the increase in blood glucose (0.58 \pm 0.19 mmol/liter) persisted after 4 yr of treatment; however, in that study,GH had no effect on fat mass (128). Ameta-analysis of placebo-controlled studies showed that GH therapy was associated with a slight rise in both fasting glucose and fasting insulin levels (120).

3.5. Recommendation

We suggest that, although mortality is increased in patients with hypopituitarism and GHD has been implicated in this, GH has not yet been shown to improve mortality (2 | $\oplus \bigcirc\bigcirc\bigcirc$).

3.5. Evidence

Epidemiological studies have shown that adults with hypopituitarism, most commonly from treatment of a pituitary adenoma or other pituitary lesion, have increased mortality compared with age- and gendermatched populations (148). The causes of premature mortality were cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease. Some investigators have concluded that patients hypopituitary receiving replacement hormones other than GH have premature mortality because of GHD. However, several factors likely contribute to the increased mortality risk: 1) many patients received cranial radiation to treat the pituitary lesion; 2) there were different glucocorticoid, thyroid hormone, and gonadal steroid replacement regimens, including what now appear to be high doses of glucocorticoids; and 3) effective treatments for hyperlipidemia and hypertension were not available during the survey times. Thus, the causes of increased risk for premature mortality in patients with hypopituitarism are not straightforward and are likely multifactorial.

Several retrospective epidemiological studies have demonstrated premature mortality in patients with pituitary lesions treated with surgery and cranial radiation (149–155). In the following reports, patients with Cushing's disease or acromegaly were excluded appropriately from analysis because these conditions confer additional risks on morbidity and mortality. A study of 333 Swedish patients with hypopituitarism diagnosed between 1956 and 1987 found that the observed cardiovascular mortality was almost twice that expected (risk quotient, 1.94). However, only 40% of hypogonadal women younger than 50 yr received estrogen replacement, and 76% of hypogonadal men received testosterone replacement (154). Another study of 172 patients from the United Kingdom with partial or complete hypopituitarism diagnosed between 1967 and 1994 found that the ratio of observed to expected deaths was 1.73 for allcause mortality. In this study, there was a small but insignificant increase in deaths due to vascular disease, and women had a worse prognosis than men; the only independent predictive factors for survival were age at diagnosis and hypogonadism (149). A Swedish study of 344 hypopituitary patients, diagnosed between 1952 and 1992, showed that mortality from cerebrovascular disease was increased [standardized mortality ratio (SMR), 3.39], and the overall cardiovascular mortality was an SMR of 1.75; this increase in cardiovascular mortality was less than previously reported (SMR for cardiac disease, 1.41). The risk for cerebrovascular death was higher in women than in men. Cranial radiation was administered to 88% of patients (150). A study of 1014 patients from the United Kingdom with hypopituitarism surveyed between 1992 and 2000 found a SMR of 1.87. Factors contributing to the increase in premature mortality included younger age, female gender, a diagnosis of craniopharyngioma, and radiotherapy. Causes of premature mortality included cardiovascular, respiratory, and cerebrovascular diseases; untreated gonadal steroid deficiency was also associated with increased risk for premature death (155). Regarding the issue of cranial radiation and the increased risk for mortality, Erfurth et al. (151) reviewed the outcome of 342 patients who underwent surgery and cranial radiation for a pituitary tumor between 1952 and 1996 [likely some of the patients reported by Bülow et al. (150) in 1997]. The analysis found that there was no difference in the radiation treatments between patients who died from cerebrovascular disease (n = 31) and those living (n = 62 matched controls), but there was a significant difference in the duration of symptoms of hypopituitarism in women before treatment. The authors concluded that a long history of untreated pituitary deficiency may have been a contributing factor to the increased cerebrovascular mortality in women. Additionally, there were no significant differences in the type of stroke, clinical stroke syndromes, or stroke fatality between the hypopituitary patients with cerebrovascular disease and the general population (151). A study from Japan of causes of death in 391 patients with hypopituitarism (1984–1993) showed that death from cerebrovascular disease was significantly higher in hypopituitary patients than in sex- and agematched control subjects; death from cardiac disease was not increased. Unfortunately, there was no information regarding the number of hypopituitary patients who received cranial radiation (152). Another potential contributor to premature mortality is progression of pituitary disease. In a study of 281 patients who underwent surgery and cranial radiation (1946–1988), 35 had regrowth of the pituitary adenoma requiring another operation. Twenty-five of these 35 patients died (cardiovascular disease SMR, 3.74; cerebrovascular disease SMR, 3.77). In the 246 patients who did not have tumor regrowth, the overall SMR was 1.71 (cardiovascular disease SMR, 1.56; cerebrovascular disease SMR, 3.54) (151).

More recent reports of hypopituitarism and mortality include follow-up of 160 patients from Denmark with a nonfunctioning adenoma who underwent transsphenoidal resection; radiotherapy was given to 29 patients. After 12.4 yr (median; range, 8.1–19.9 yr), 41 patients had died (34.7 expected), yielding an SMR of 1.8 [95% confidence interval (CI), 0.87–1.60]. The SMR was significantly increased in hypopituitary women (1.97; 95% CI, 1.20–3.21), but not in hypopituitary men. Reasons for increased mortality in women were uncertain, but suboptimal hormone replacement was a possibility (156). A larger study from Denmark of 1,794 patients with GHD and 8,014 age- and gender-matched controls found that mortality was increased in adults with either

childhood- or adult-onset GHD. The hazard ratio for men with childhood-onset GHD was 8.3 (95% CI, 4.5–15.1), and it was 9.4 (95% CI, 4.6–19.4) in women with childhood-onset GHD. In patients with adult-onset GHD, the hazard ratio in men was 1.9 (95% CI, 1.7–2.2), and it was 3.4 (95% CI, 2.9–4.0) in women. In the adult-onset GHD patients, mortality was increased because of cancer and because of circulatory diseases in all age groups of women and in men in the oldest age group (157).

A meta-analysis of six studies to assess gender-specific mortality in 5412 patients with pituitary disease and hypopituitarism (excluding patients with Cushing's or acromegaly) found that the SMR in patients with pituitary disease and hypopituitarism was increased significantly as compared with the reference population. Mortality was greater in women than in men; the SMR ranged from 0.98 to 3.36 in men and from 2.11 to 4.53 in women (P < 0.0001, men vs. women). The authors speculate that the higher mortality in women may reflect suboptimal diagnosis of pituitary hormone deficiency or suboptimal hormone replacement (158).

3.5. Remarks

The evidence supports the conclusion that patients with pituitary tumors and hypopituitarism have an increased risk for premature mortality. The risk of death from cerebrovascular disease is likely related to prior cranial radiation. However, there is still the question of what causes increased risk for cardiac disease. Hyperlipidemia is a likely contributor; whether this is related solely to GHD cannot be determined by the current studies because there was not widespread treatment with lipid-lowering drugs. However, the inferential evidence suggests that GHD may be a contributor.

Svensson *et al.* (159) found a lower mortality in GH treated hypopituitary patients followed prospectively, compared with a retrospective analysis of patients who had not been treated with GH; however, the different time periods covered also included dramatic changes in the treatment of comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, and hypercholesterolemia. As yet, there are no prospective, long-term randomized

studies in adult GHD patients comparing GH treatment to placebo on cardiovascular hard outcomes and mortality, and it is likely that there will never be such a study. It is possible that future analyses of treated and untreated patients in the databases compiled by some pharmaceutical companies may allow some determination of the effect of GH treatment on mortality and cardiovascular outcomes.

3.6. Recommendation

We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults improves the quality of life of most patients $(2 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc)$.

3.6. Evidence

Quality of life is usually assessed via self-administered questionnaires that reflect a variety of health-related, economic, and social factors. Quality of life measures may be broadly correlated with, but are different from, assessments of affect or cognition. Disease-specific quality of life assessment questionnaires have been validated and are now widely used (160, 161).

Quality of life evaluations of GHD patients have shown a high degree of variability. For example, in the untreated state, some patients reported severe impairment in quality of life, and some said their quality of life was normal (162). In particular, significant impairment in quality of life was less frequently observed in adults with childhood-onset GHD than in those with adult-onset GHD (126). The area of quality of life most likely to be affected by GHD was energy and vitality (163). Some studies showed definite benefit after patients received GH replacement therapy, but in others either improvements were more limited or no improvement was seen (61, 81, 161-166). The degree of improvement in quality of life is generally proportional to the deviation from normality at the outset (165, 166), but it shows no correlation with the degree of improvement in IGF-I levels (161, 167). In practice, this means that if the quality of life of the patients is normal at baseline, no improvement will be seen with GH replacement (164). Improvement in quality of life was similar regardless of the etiology of the GHD, i.e. brain tumors, organic pituitary disease, traumatic brain injury, or nonorganic pituitary

disorders (168, 169). Some studies have shown that much of the improvement in quality of life occurs within the first 3 months of GH replacement (166), and certainly most of the improvement is seen within the first year of treatment (161). Some long-term studies have shown sustained benefit in some aspects of quality of life among treated patients as compared with untreated patients (170).

3.6. Remarks

Aspecial category is the patient who is GH deficient but who has a prior history of acromegaly with many years of exposure to an excess of GH. Small studies show that such patients have decreased quality of life compared with those with prior acromegaly who are GH sufficient (171), but no differences have been found in a variety of metabolic parameters including waist circumference, body fat percentage, blood pressure, glucose tolerance, or lipid profile (172). GH treatment of such individuals has yielded mixed results, with some studies showing improvement in body composition and quality of life (173, 174) but others showing little benefit (175).

4.0. SIDE EFFECTS AND RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH GH THERAPY

GH therapy of adults with GHD has generally been regarded as being quite safe, although concerns remain regarding the potential for cancer risk and tumor regrowth (176). Although GH treatment decreased insulin sensitivity, the worsening of glycemic control has in general been minimal or transient.

4.1. Recommendation

We recommend that treatment is contraindicated in the presence of an active malignancy $(1 \mid \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc)$.

4.1. Evidence

There has been theoretical concern that GH therapy and its attendant increase in IGF-I could lead to the development or regrowth of malignancies or pituitary tumor regrowth/recurrence, but several epidemiological studies have not shown any increased risk. No increase in the recurrence rates of either intracranial or extracranial tumors has been demonstrated in AGHD. Virtually all of the long-term follow-up data on the development/recurrence of intracranial or extracranial malignancies come from studies of children treated with GH. Fradkin et al. (177) reported an increase in leukemia in children treated with GH, but the excess risk could be attributed to the presence of other tumors and/or radiotherapy. A recent update of the 54,996 children enrolled in the National Cooperative Growth Study between 1985 and 2006 showed no excess in the number of leukemias in patients treated with GH, compared with those not treated with GH(178). In a series from the United Kingdom (179), mortality from colorectal cancer and Hodgkin's disease was increased in a cohort of 1848 GHD patients who received GH during childhood; however, the number of cases was small (only two cases of each), and treatment parameters differed from modern day dosing regimens. No increased rates of leukemia were reported in this cohort. A slight increase in intracranial and extracranial neoplasms was found in the 361 GH treated children from 14,103 survivors enrolled in the Childhood Cancer Survival Study, but this increase was largely due to meningiomas (180). In contrast, a recent update of the National Cooperative Growth Study showed no excess in the number of true malignancies in patients treated with GH as compared with those not treated with GH (178). Furthermore, an analysis of 1038 patients from the KIGS database showed no increased risk of recurrence of brain tumors in patients treated with GH (181).

Several studies have now shown no effect of GH replacement on tumor regrowth or recurrence in AGHD patients with pituitary tumors or craniopharyngiomas (182–189). Most of the long-term safety data emerge from open-label longitudinal studies.

4.1. Values and preferences

An association between increased IGF-I levels and cancer risk has been shown in some epidemiological studies (190). Therefore, despite the large number of

studies that have found no evidence of an increased cancer risk in patients treated with GH, it is still recommended that GH not be used in patients with evidence of active malignancy because of the serious potential consequences of exacerbating the progression of a malignancy.

4.2. Recommendation

We recommend that GH treatment in patients with diabetes mellitus may require adjustments in antidiabetic medications (1 | $\oplus \oplus \ominus$).

4.2. Evidence

Insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes were reported in a few patients in the early, large clinical trials of GH treatment (144). As noted above, there is considerable variability in changes in insulin sensitivity due to differences in body composition, age, and genetic predisposition. In the placebo-controlled study by Hoffman *et al.* (61), GH therapy was associated with a worsening of glucose tolerance to impaired glucose tolerance in 13% and to diabetes in 4% of patients, the total number with worsening being significantly greater than what was seen with placebo. Thus, with current dosing regimens, there may be a slight excess risk of diabetes mellitus; monitoring of diabetic patients for changes in medication needs is appropriate.

4.2. Remarks

Retinopathy is an extremely rare complication of GH therapy. Two patients without diabetes, one an adult and the other a 9-yr-old patient with Turner's syndrome, developed retinopathy while receiving GH but improved after its withdrawal (191–193). In contrast, none of 85 children with IGHD who received GH for 6.4 ± 2.9 yr developed retinopathy (194).

Benign intracranial hypertension has been linked to GH treatment in children (195), but only two cases have been reported in adults (79, 196). Gynecomastia has been reported in normal elderly individuals receiving GH in high doses (197, 198). Galactorrhea has not been reported.

4.3. Recommendation

We suggest that thyroid and adrenal function be monitored during GH therapy of adults with GHD $(2 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc)$.

4.3. Evidence

Although not an adverse effect, some studies have shown that GH replacement caused a lowering of serum free T4 levels (199, 200). GH replacement has also been found to cause a lowering of serum cortisol levels due to reversal of the enhanced conversion of cortisone to cortisol during the GH-deficient state, thus potentially bringing out central hypoadrenalism that had been masked (201). Thus, free T4 levels should be monitored during GH treatment, and doses of T4 should be adjusted as necessary (199, 200). Similarly, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis should be reassessed in GHD patients during GH therapy, if they had not been previously found to be deficient in this axis, and glucocorticoid replacement should be instituted if necessary (199).

5.0. TREATMENT REGIMENS

5.1. Recommendation

We recommend that GH-dosing regimens be individualized rather than weight-based and start with low doses and be titrated according to clinical response, side effects, and IGF-I levels (1 | \(\pi\pi\pi\pi\pi\pi\pi\)).

5.1. Evidence

GH dosing in adults was initially adopted from pediatric practice and was subsequently found to be supraphysiological and associated with numerous side effects. Consequently, dosages were reduced, resulting in fewer adverse effects (202, 203). Most adverse effects are dose related. The most common side effects, occurring in 5–18% of patients, are related to fluid retention and include paresthesias, joint stiffness, peripheral edema, arthralgias, and myalgias. Carpal tunnel syndrome occurs in approximately 2%

of treated AGHD patients. Adult patients who are older, heavier, or female are more prone to develop these complications (204). Most of these adverse reactions improve with dose reduction. Increased blood pressure is seen when fluid retention occurs, but this problem can be avoided with appropriate dosing (205).

Dosing plans have evolved from weight-based dosing to individualized dose-titration strategies. Adverse effects are less than half as frequent with dose-titration compared with weight-based dosing (202).

5.2. Recommendation

We recommend that GH dosing take gender, estrogen status, and age into consideration (1 | \bigcirc).

5.2. Evidence

Ho and colleagues (206) have shown that estrogen stimulates a specific noncompetitive postreceptor inhibitor of GH actions, SOCS2, in the liver. Because approximately 85% of circulating IGF-I is liver derived, oral estrogen has a much greater effect in suppressing the stimulation of IGF-I levels, and in general, women require higher doses of GH to achieve the same IGF-I response (207). However, even when men and women were matched to similar IGF-I responses, the effects of GH on clinical endpoints such as body fat, LDL cholesterol, and circulating markers of bone turnover were still blunted in women (207). Cook et al. (208) reported similar contrasting results for men and women, and they found that much higher GH doses were needed to achieve the same IGF-I levels in women receiving oral estrogen replacement. As women come off estrogen therapy or are switched from oral to transdermal estrogen, GH doses may need to be lowered.

GH secretion normally decreases with age, and older patients have an increased susceptibility to GH-related side effects. Therefore, GH dose requirements are lower in older patients and higher in some transition and young adult patients (81). On the other hand, dosing is similar regardless of whether the patient has childhood-onset or adult-onset disease (209), although IGF-I responses may be lower in the

childhood-onset group. For patients aged 30–60 yr, a starting dose of 200–300 μ g/d usually will not be associated with side effects. Daily dosing should be increased by 100–200 μ g every 1 to 2 months, the goals being an appropriate clinical response, an avoidance of side effects, and an IGF-I level in the age-adjusted reference range.

5.2. Remarks

Acommonly used target for IGF-I is the upper half of that range, although no published studies offer specific guidance in this regard. Clinical benefits may not become apparent for 6 months of treatment or more. Older (>60 yr) patients should be started on lower doses (100–200 μ g/d) and increased more slowly. Younger (<30 yr) patients may benefit from higher initial doses (400–500 μ g/d); for patients transitioning from pediatric treatment, even higher doses may be appropriate. Women who are taking oral estrogen replacement usually need substantially higher doses of GH, but those on transdermal estrogen preparations may not (208).

Recently, it has been found that two isoforms of the GH receptor are present, one being full-length with a full length gene (fl), and the other lacking 22 amino acids due to a deletion of exon 3 of the GH receptor gene (GHRd3) (210). The distributions of the genotypes are 50–59% fl/fl, 37–42% GHRd3/fl, and 4–12% GHRd3/GHRd3 (210–214). Although the GHRd3 confers a slight increase in sensitivity to GH in vitro (215), studies in GHD children and adults treated with GH show mixed and generally minimal differences among those with different genotypes (210–214, 216). Therefore, the presence of the shortened GH receptor appears to be of minimal clinical significance and does not have to be looked for in commencing therapy with patients.

5.3. Recommendation

We suggest that during GH treatment, patients be monitored at 1- to 2-month intervals during dose titration and semiannually thereafter with a clinical assessment and an evaluation for adverse effects, IGF-I levels, and other parameters of GH response (2 | DDCO).

5.3. Evidence

After maintenance doses have been achieved, monitoring usually occurs at 6-month intervals. Such monitoring should include a clinical evaluation, an assessment of side effects, and measurement of IGF-I levels. The lipid profile and a fasting glucose should be assessed annually. If the initial bone DXA scan is abnormal, then repeat evaluations at 1.5- to 2-yr intervals may be useful in assessing the need for additional treatment modalities. Assessments of waist circumference and quality of life provide additional modalities for monitoring the response to therapy. Hypopituitary patients on thyroid hormone replacementmay need dose adjustments after starting GH replacement, and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis should also be reevaluated, as noted above. These recommendations for monitoring are based on clinical experience rather than being validated by large, controlled studies.

5.3. Values and preferences

It is unclear how long to administer GH therapy. If benefits are being achieved, there is no particular reason to stop treatment. On the other hand, if there are no apparent or objective benefits of treatment after at least 1 yr of treatment, discontinuing GH therapy may be appropriate.

CONCLUSIONS

GH therapy has been shown to benefit many adults with GHD. It is critical to identify appropriate candidates in whomthe clinical context suggests that GHD may be present. Confirmation of GHD before beginning therapy is crucial and usually involves biochemical testing. The demonstrated benefits of GH therapy include improvements in body composition, exercise capacity, skeletal integrity, lipids, and quality of life. Although it has been suggested that GH treatment may reverse the increased vascular mortality associated with hypopituitarism, this has not yet been proved. It should be emphasized that long-term clinical outcome studies on hard endpoints such as

fractures, clinical heart disease, cancer, and mortality are still lacking. Dosing should be individualized, with attention to avoidance of side effects. Periodic monitoring will be necessary for both adverse effects and physiological benefits.

APPENDIX: SUMMARY OF CHANGES FROM THE 2006 GUIDELINE

Overall, the Guideline has been changed to reflect the structure of the newer guidelines, with each section started by the Recommendation or Suggestion, followed by the Evidence, and then sections on Remarks or Values. The more recent literature has been reviewed, new information and references have been provided, and some older information and references have been deleted.

- A. The introduction has been greatly shortened.
- B. Recommendation 1.3 regarding "idiopathic GHD" has been added.
- 1.3. Idiopathic GHD in adults is very rare, and stringent criteria are necessary to make this diagnosis. Because in the absence of suggestive clinical circumstances there is a significant false-positive error rate in the response to a single GH stimulation test, we suggest the use of two tests before making this diagnosis. The presence of a low IGF-I also increases the likelihood that this diagnosis is correct (2 | $\oplus \bigcirc$).

This specifically states that to make a diagnosis of idiopathic GHD in adults, decreased GH responses to two appropriate stimulation tests are needed. It was felt that elevation of the previous discussion about this to the level of a recommendation was needed to reemphasize that inappropriate use of GH in adults is not to be done.

- C. Recommendation 2.1. regarding the ITT and GHRH-Arg testing was expanded.
- 2.1. We recommend that the ITT and the GHRH-arginine test have sufficient sensitivity and specificity

to establish the diagnosis of GHD. However, in those with clearly established recent (within 10 yr) hypothalamic causes of suspected GHD, *e.g.* irradiation, testing with GHRH-arginine may be misleading (1 |

The Values/Preferences and Remarks sections have been expanded, noting both the current unavailability of GHRH and the additional information regarding a possible need to modify the cut-points based on BMI for GHRH-Arg. D. Recommendation 2.2. regarding use of glucagon as a stimulation test has been added.

2.2. We suggest that when GHRH is not available and performance of an ITT is either contraindicated or not practical in a given patient, the glucagon stimulation test can be used to diagnose GHD $(2 \mid)$.

This has been added primarily because of the current lack of GHRH and suggests that this is probably the third best test and could be used if the ITT is not appropriate for a patient and GHRH is not available.

- E. Recommendation 2.3. regarding the retesting of those with childhood GHD was expanded.
- 2.3. We recommend that because of the irreversible nature of the cause of the GHD in children with structural lesions with multiple hormone deficiencies and those with proven genetic causes, a low IGF-I level at least 1 month off GH therapy is sufficient documentation of persistent GHD without additional provocative testing $(1 \mid \bigoplus \bigoplus)$.

Remarks section has been added stating that in adolescents and young adults there may need to be higher cut-points for the stimulation tests.

- F. Recommendations 3.1.–3.6. deal with the potential benefits of GH therapy and have been divided now into separate recommendations compared with the earlier version which lumped them together. We feel this provides for better structure and clarity.
- 3.1. We recommend that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults offers significant clinical benefits in body composition and exercise capacity (1 | \$\therefore\the

- 3.2. Wesuggest thatGHtherapy of GH-deficient adults offers significant clinical benefits in skeletal integrity (2 | ⊕⊕○○).
- 3.3. We recommend after documentation of persistent GHD that GH therapy be continued after completion of adult height to obtain full skeletal/muscle maturation during the transition period (1 | \(\phi\)\(\phi\)\(\phi\)).
- 3.4. Wesuggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults improves several cardiovascular surrogate outcomes, including endothelial function, inflammatory cardiovascular biomarkers, lipoprotein metabolism, carotid IMT, and aspects of myocardial function but tends to increase insulin resistance (2 | $\oplus \oplus \bigcirc$).
- 3.5. We suggest that, although mortality is increased in patients with hypopituitarism and GHD has been implicated in this, GH has not yet been shown to improve mortality $(2 \mid \oplus \bigcirc\bigcirc)$.
- 3.6. We suggest that GH therapy of GH-deficient adults improves the quality of life of most patients $(2 \mid \bigcirc\bigcirc\bigcirc)$.
- G. Recommendation 3.3. was added as a specific recommendation regarding reassessment and treatment in the transition period.
- 3.3. We recommend after documentation of persistent GHD that GH therapy be continued after completion of adult height to obtain full skeletal/muscle maturation during the transition period $(1 \mid \bigoplus \bigcirc)$.

There are now sufficient data from multiple studies to support this as a specific recommendation.

- H. Recommendation 3.5.
- 3.5. We suggest that, although mortality is increased in patients with hypopituitarism and GHD has been implicated in this, GH has not yet been shown to improve mortality $(2 \mid \oplus \bigcirc\bigcirc)$.

This suggestion states that GH treatment has not yet been shown to improve mortality. There is substantial evidence showing an increased mortality with

EVALUATION AND TREATMENT OF ADULT GROWTH HORMONE DEFICIENCY

hypopituitarism, but too many endocrinologists equate this to GHD and assume that GH treatment will alter this. We have learned the hard way from randomized controlled studies in recent years that what seems to be a logical conclusion doesn't always turn out that way (e.g. the Women's Health Initiative, the erythropoietin treatment studies in kidney disease, the statin studies in patients on dialysis, etc.). Therefore, we raised this discussion up to a level of a suggestion. However, this was a controversial decision.

- I. We have deleted the prior recommendation that GH treatment is more likely to benefit those with more severe disease and just alluded to this here and there in the various discussions because it was not felt to need specific emphasis.
- J. Recommendation 4.3 regarding testing for adrenal and thyroid function during testing has been added.
- 4.3. We suggest that thyroid and adrenal function be monitored during GH therapy of adults with GHD (2 | ⊕⊕○○).

More evidence has come out supporting the need to do this and we felt that this should be emphasized to the level of a specific suggestion.

Although not making it to the levels of specific recommendations or suggestions, information has been added about other areas: 1) Hypopituitarism due to subarachnoid hemorrhage and an expansion of hypopituitarism due to head trauma has been added in the discussion of Recommendation 1.2.2.) A discussion of the treatment of GHD in patients with prior acromegaly has been added in the discussion of Recommendation 3.6.3.) A specific comment is now made showing no increase in recurrence rate of pituitary tumors related to GH treatment in the discussion of Recommendation 4.1.4.) Comments have been added regarding possible differences in sensitivity to GH in patients with different isoforms of the GH receptor in the discussion of Recommendation 5.2.

References

- Molitch ME, Clemmons DR, Malozowski S, Merriam GR, Shalet SM, Vance ML, Stephens PA 2006 Evaluation and treatment of adult growth hormone deficiency: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:1621–1634
- Atkins D, Best D, Briss PA, Eccles M, Falck-Ytter Y, Flottorp S, Guyatt GH, Harbour RT, Haugh MC, Henry D, Hill S, Jaeschke R, Leng G, Liberati A, Magrini N, Mason J, Middleton P, Mrukowicz J, O'Connell D, Oxman AD, Phillips B, Schünemann HJ, Edejer TT, Varonen H, Vist GE, Williams Jr JW, Zaza S 2004 Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ 328:1490
- MacGillivray MH, Blizzard RM 1994 Rationale for dosing recombinant human growth hormone by weight rather than units. Growth Genet Horm 10:7–9
- Alatzoglou KS, Dattani MT 2009 Genetic forms of hypopituitarism and their manifestation in the neonatal period. Early Hum Dev 85:705–712
- Cohen LE, Radovick S 2002 Molecular basis of combined pituitary hormone deficiencies. Endocr Rev 23:431–442
- Cogan JD, Phillips 3rd JA 2006 GH1 gene deletions and IGHD type 1A. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 3(Suppl 3):480–488
- Alatzoglou KS, Turton JP, Kelberman D, Clayton PE, Mehta A, Buchanan C, Aylwin S, Crowne EC, Christesen HT, Hertel NT, Trainer PJ, Savage MO, Raza J, Banerjee K, Sinha SK, Ten S, Mushtaq T, Brauner R, Cheetham TD, Hindmarsh PC, Mullis PE, Dattani MT 2009 Expanding the spectrum of mutations in GH1 and GHRHR: genetic screening in a large cohort of patients with congenital isolated growth hormone deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:3191–3199
- Mantovani G, Maghnie M, Weber G, De Menis E, Brunelli V, Cappa M, Loli P, Beck-Peccoz P, Spada A 2003 Growth hormone-releasing hormone resistance in pseudohypoparathyroidism type 1a: new evidence for imprinting of the Gs gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:4070–4074
- Pantel J, Legendre M, Cabrol S, Hilal L, Hajaji Y, Morisset S, Nivot S, Vie-Luton MP, Grouselle D, de Kerdanet M, Kadiri A, Epelbaum J, Le Bouc Y, Amselem S 2006 Loss of constitutive activity of the growth hormone secretagogue receptor in familial short stature. J Clin Invest 116:760–768
- Léger J, Danner S, Simon D, Garel C, Czernichow P 2005
 Do all patients with childhood-onset growth hormone deficiency (GHD) and ectopic neurohypophysis have persistent GHD in adulthood? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:650–656
- 11. Maghnie M, Salati B, Bianchi S, Rallo M, Tinelli C, Autelli M, Aimaretti G, Ghigo E 2001 Relationship between the morphological evaluation of the pituitary and the growth hormone (GH) response to GH-releasing hormone plus arginine in children and adults with congenital hypopituitarism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:1574–1579

- 12. Mulder RL, Kremer LC, van Santen HM, Ket JL, van Trotsenburg AS, Koning CC, Schouten-van Meeteren AY, Caron HN, Neggers SJ, van Dalen EC 2009 Prevalence and risk factors of radiation-induced growth hormone deficiency in childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. Cancer Treat Rev 35:616–632
- Gleeson HK, Gattamaneni HR, Smethurst L, Brennan BM, Shalet SM 2004 Reassessment of growth hormone status is required at final height in children treated with growth hormone replacement after radiation therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:662–666
- 14. Cacciari E, Tassoni P, Parisi G, Pirazzoli P, Zucchini S, Mandini M, Cicognani A, Balsamo A 1992 Pitfalls in diagnosing impaired growth hormone (GH) secretion: retesting after replacement therapy of 63 patients defined as GH deficient. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 74:1284–1289
- Clayton PE, Price DA, Shalet SM 1987 Growth hormone state after completion of treatment with growth hormone. Arch Dis Child 62:222–226
- de Boer H, Blok GJ, Van der Veen EA 1995 Clinical aspects of growth hormone deficiency in adults. Endocr Rev 16:63–86
- 17. Longobardi S, Merola B, Pivonello R, Di Rella F, Di Somma C, Colao A, Ghigo E, Camanni F, Lombardi G 1996 Reevaluation of growth hormone (GH) secretion in 69 adults diagnosed as GH-deficient patients during childhood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81: 1244–1247
- Nicolson A, Toogood AA, Rahim A, Shalet SM 1996 The prevalence of severe growth hormone deficiency in adults who received growth hormone replacement in childhood [see comment]. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 44:311–316
- Tauber M, Moulin P, Pienkowski C, Jouret B, Rochiccioli P 1997 Growth hormone (GH) retesting and auxological data in 131 GH-deficient patients after completion of treatment. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:352–356
- Wacharasindhu S, Cotterill AM, Camacho-Hübner C, Besser GM, Savage MO 1996 Normal growth hormone secretion in growth hormone insufficient children retested after completion of linear growth. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 45:553–556
- Yuen KC, Cook DM, Sahasranam P, Patel P, Ghods DE, Shahinian HK, Friedman TC 2008 Prevalence of GH and other anterior pituitary hormone deficiencies in adults with nonsecreting pituitary microadenomas and normal serum IGF-1 levels. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 69:292–298
- 22. Molitch ME 2008 Nonfunctioning pituitary tumors and pituitary incidentalomas. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 37:151–171, xi
- Arafah BM, Prunty D, Ybarra J, Hlavin ML, Selman WR 2000 The dominant role of increased intrasellar pressure in the pathogenesis of hypopituitarism, hyperprolactinemia, and headaches in patients with pituitary adenomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:1789–1793

- Arafah BM 1986 Reversible hypopituitarism in patients with large nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 62: 1173–1179
- Arafah BM, Kailani SH, Nekl KE, Gold RS, Selman WR 1994 Immediate recovery of pituitary function after transsphenoidal resection of pituitary macroadenomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 79: 348–354
- Webb SM, Rigla M, Wägner A, Oliver B, Bartumeus F 1999
 Recovery of hypopituitarism after neurosurgical treatment of pituitary adenomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:3696–3700
- Littley MD, Shalet SM, Beardwell CG, Ahmed SR, Applegate G, Sutton ML 1989 Hypopituitarism following external radiotherapy for pituitary tumours in adults. Q J Med 70:145–160
- Snyder PJ, Fowble BF, Schatz NJ, Savino PJ, Gennarelli TA 1986 Hypopituitarism following radiation therapy of pituitary adenomas. Am J Med 81:457–462
- Feigl GC, Bonelli CM, Berghold A, Mokry M 2002 Effects of gamma knife radiosurgery of pituitary adenomas on pituitary function. J Neurosurg 97:415–421
- Agha A, Rogers B, Sherlock M, O'Kelly P, Tormey W, Phillips J, Thompson CJ 2004 Anterior pituitary dysfunction in survivors of traumatic brain injury. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:4929–4936
- 31. Aimaretti G, Ambrosio MR, Di Somma C, Fusco A, Cannavè S, Gasperi M, Scaroni C, De Marinis L, Benvenga S, degli Uberti EC, Lombardi G, Mantero F, Martino E, Giordano G, Ghigo E 2004 Traumatic brain injury and subarachnoid haemorrhage are conditions at high risk for hypopituitarism: screening study at 3 months after the brain injury. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 61:320–326
- Schneider HJ, Kreitschmann-Andermahr I, Ghigo E, Stalla GK, Agha A 2007 Hypothalamopituitary dysfunction following traumatic brain injury and aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. JAMA 298:1429–1438
- Tanriverdi F, Unluhizarci K, Kelestimur F 2010 Pituitary function in subjects with mild traumatic brain injury: a review of literature and proposal of a screening strategy. Pituitary 13:146–153
- 34. Colao A, Di Somma C, Savastano S, Rota F, Savanelli MC, Aimaretti G, Lombardi G 2009 A reappraisal of diagnosing GH deficiency in adults: role of gender, age, waist circumference, and body mass index. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:4414–4422
- 35. Qu XD, Gaw Gonzalo IT, Al Sayed MY, Cohan P, Christenson PD, Swerdloff RS, Kelly DF, Wang C 2005 Influence of body mass index and gender on growth hormone (GH) responses to GH-releasing hormone plus arginine and insulin tolerance tests. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:1563–1569
- 36. Aimaretti G, Corneli G, Razzore P, Bellone S, Baffoni C, Arvat E, Camanni F, Ghigo E 1998 Comparison between insulin-induced hypoglycemia and growth hormone (GH)-releasing hormone arginine as provocative tests for the diagnosis of GH deficiency in adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:1615–1618

- 37. Biller BM, Samuels MH, Zagar A, Cook DM, Arafah BM, Bonert V, Stavrou S, Kleinberg DL, Chipman JJ, Hartman ML 2002 Sensitivity and specificity of six tests for the diagnosis of adult GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:2067–2079
- 38. Darzy KH, Aimaretti G, Wieringa G, Gattamaneni HR, Ghigo E, Shalet SM 2003 The usefulness of the combined growth hormone (GH)-releasing hormone and arginine stimulation test in the diagnosis of radiation-induced GH deficiency is dependent on the postirradiation time interval. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:95–102
- Chihara K, Shimatsu A, Hizuka N, Tanaka T, Seino Y, Katofor Y 2007Asimple diagnostic test using GH-releasing peptide-2 in adult GH deficiency. Eur J Endocrinol 157:19–27
- 1998 Consensus guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of adults with growth hormone deficiency: summary statement of the Growth Hormone Research Society Workshop on Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:379–381
- 41. Corneli G, Di Somma C, Baldelli R, Rovere S, Gasco V, Croce CG, Grottoli S, Maccario M, Colao A, Lombardi G, Ghigo E, Camanni F, Aimaretti G 2005 The cut-off limits of the GH response to GH-releasing hormone-arginine test related to body mass index. Eur J Endocrinol 153:257–264
- 42. Berg C, Meinel T, Lahner H, Yuece A, Mann K, Petersenn S 2010 Diagnostic utility of the glucagon stimulation test in comparison to the insulin tolerance test in patients following pituitary surgery. Eur J Endocrinol 162:477–482
- Conceição FL, da Costa e Silva A, Leal Costa AJ, Vaisman M
 Glucagon stimulation test for the diagnosis of GH deficiency in adults. J Endocrinol Invest 26:1065–1070
- 44. Gómez JM, Espadero RM, Escobar-Jiménez F, Hawkins F, Picó A, Herrera-Pombo JL, Vilardell E, Durán A, Mesa J, Faure E, Sanmartí A 2002 Growth hormone release after glucagon as a reliable test of growth hormone assessment in adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 56:329–334
- 45. Corneli G, Di Somma C, Prodam F, Bellone J, Bellone S, Gasco V, Baldelli R, Rovere S, Schneider HJ, Gargantini L, Gastaldi R, Ghizzoni L, Valle D, Salerno M, Colao A, Bona G, Ghigo E, Maghnie M, Aimaretti G 2007 Cut-off limits of the GH response to GHRH plus arginine test and IGF-I levels for the diagnosis of GH deficiency in late adolescents and young adults. Eur J Endocrinol 157:701–708
- 46. Maghnie M, Aimaretti G, Bellone S, Bona G, Bellone J, Baldelli R, de Sanctis C, Gargantini L, Gastaldi R, Ghizzoni L, Secco A, Tinelli C, Ghigo E 2005 Diagnosis of GH deficiency in the transition period: accuracy of insulin tolerance test and insulin-like growth factor-I measurement. Eur J Endocrinol 152:589–596
- 47. Secco A, di Iorgi N, Napoli F, Calandra E, Calcagno A, Ghezzi M, Frassinetti C, Fratangeli N, Parodi S, Benassai M, Leitner Y, Gastaldi R, Lorini R, Maghnie M, Radetti G 2009 Reassessment of the growth hormone status in young adults with childhood-onset growth hormone deficiency: reappraisal of insulin tolerance testing. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:4195–4204

- 48. Hartman ML, Crowe BJ, Biller BM, Ho KK, Clemmons DR, Chipman JJ 2002 Which patients do not require a GH stimulation test for the diagnosis of adult GH deficiency? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:477–485
- 49. Hilding A, Hall K, Wivall-Helleryd IL, Sääf M, Melin AL, Thorén M 1999 Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor I in 152 patients with growth hormone deficiency, aged 19–82 years, in relation to those in healthy subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:2013–2019
- Hoffman DM, O'Sullivan AJ, Baxter RC, Ho KK 1994
 Diagnosis of growth hormone deficiency in adults. Lancet 343:1064–1068
- 51. Brabant G, Krogh Rasmussen A, Biller BM, Buchfelder M, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Forssmann K, Jonsson B, Koltowska-Haggstrom M, Maiter D, Saller B, Toogood A 2007 Clinical implications of residual growth hormone (GH) response to provocative testing in adults with severe GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:2604–2609
- 52. Juul A, Kastrup KW, Pedersen SA, Skakkebaek NE 1997 Growth hormone (GH) provocative retesting of 108 young adults with childhood-onset GH deficiency and the diagnostic value of insulinlike growth factor I (IGF-I) and IGFbinding protein-3. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:1195–1201
- Toogood AA, Beardwell CG, Shalet SM 1994 The severity of growth hormone deficiency in adults with pituitary disease is related to the degree of hypopituitarism. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 41: 511–516
- 54. Beshyah SA, Freemantle C, Thomas E, Rutherford O, Page B, Murphy M, Johnston DG 1995 Abnormal body composition and reduced bone mass in growth hormone deficient hypopituitary adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 42:179–189
- 55. Johannsson G, Mårin P, Lönn L, Ottosson M, Stenlöf K, Björntorp P, Sjöström L, Bengtsson BA 1997 Growth hormone treatment of abdominally obese men reduces abdominal fat mass, improves glucose and lipoprotein metabolism, and reduces diastolic blood pressure. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:727–734
- 56. Maiter D, Abs R, Johannsson G, Scanlon M, Jönsson PJ, Wilton P, Koltowska-Häggström M 2006 Baseline characteristics and response to GH replacement of hypopituitary patients previously irradiated for pituitary adenoma or cranio-pharyngioma: data from the Pfizer International Metabolic Database. Eur J Endocrinol 155: 253–260
- 57. Attanasio AF, Bates PC, Ho KK, Webb SM, Ross RJ, Strasburger CJ, Bouillon R, Crowe B, Selander K, Valle D, Lamberts SW 2002 Human growth hormone replacement in adult hypopituitary patients: long-term effects on body composition and lipid status—3-year results from the HypoCCS Database. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:1600–1606
- Møller N, Jørgensen JO 2009 Effects of growth hormone on glucose, lipid, and protein metabolism in human subjects. Endocr Rev 30:152–177

- 59. Chrisoulidou A, Beshyah SA, Rutherford O, Spinks TJ, Mayet J, Kyd P, Anyaoku V, Haida A, Ariff B, Murphy M, Thomas E, Robinson S, Foale R, Johnston DG 2000 Effects of seven years of growth hormone replacement therapy in hypopituitary adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:3762–3769
- 60. Franco C, Koranyi J, Brandberg J, Lönn L, Bengtsson BK, Svensson J, Johannsson G 2009 The reduction in visceral fat mass in response to growth hormone is more marked in men than in oestrogen deficient women. Growth Horm IGF Res 19:112–120
- 61. Hoffman AR, Kuntze JE, Baptista J, Baum HB, Baumann GP, Biller BM, Clark RV, Cook D, Inzucchi SE, Kleinberg D, Klibanski A, Phillips LS, Ridgway EC, Robbins RJ, Schlechte J, Sharma M, Thorner MO, Vance ML 2004 Growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy in adult-onset GH deficiency: effects on body composition in men and women in a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:2048–2056
- 62. Salomon F, Cuneo RC, Hesp R, Sönksen PH 1989 The effects of treatment with recombinant human growth hormone on body composition and metabolism in adults with growth hormone deficiency. N Engl J Med 321:1797–1803
- 63. Al-Shoumer KA, Page B, Thomas E, Murphy M, Beshyah SA, Johnston DG 1996 Effects of four years' treatment with biosynthetic human growth hormone (GH) on body composition in GH-deficient hypopituitary adults. Eur J Endocrinol 135:559–567
- 64. Attanasio AF, Howell S, Bates PC, Frewer P, Chipman J, Blum WF, Shalet SM 2002 Body composition, IGF-I and IGFBP-3 concentrations as outcome measures in severely GH-deficient (GHD) patients after childhood GH treatment: a comparison with adult onset GHD patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:3368–3372
- 65. Ezzat S, Fear S, Gaillard RC, Gayle C, Landy H, Marcovitz S, Mattioni T, Nussey S, Rees A, Svanberg E 2002 Gender-specific responses of lean body composition and non-gender-specific cardiac function improvement after GH replacement in GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:2725–2733
- 66. Gibney J, Wallace JD, Spinks T, Schnorr L, Ranicar A, Cuneo RC, Lockhart S, Burnand KG, Salomon F, Sonksen PH, Russell-Jones D 1999 The effects of 10 years of recombinant human growth hormone (GH) in adult GH-deficient patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:2596–2602
- 67. Janssen YJ, Doornbos J, Roelfsema F 1999 Changes in muscle volume, strength, and bioenergetics during recombinant human growth hormone (GH) therapy in adults with GH-deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:279–284
- Johannsson G, Grimby G, Sunnerhagen KS, Bengtsson BA 1997 Two years of growth hormone (GH) treatment increase isometric and isokinetic muscle strength in GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:2877–2884
- Svensson J, Sunnerhagen KS, Johannsson G 2003 Five years
 of growth hormone replacement therapy in adults: age- and
 gender related changes in isometric and isokinetic muscle
 strength. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:2061–2069

- Widdowson WM, Gibney J 2008 The effect of growth hormone replacement on exercise capacity in patients with GH deficiency: a metaanalysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:4413–4417
- Woodhouse LJ, Asa SL, Thomas SG, Ezzat S 1999 Measures
 of submaximal aerobic performance evaluate and predict
 functional response to growth hormone (GH) treatment in
 GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:4570–4577
- Götherström G, Elbornsson M, Stibrant-Sunnerhagen K, Bengtsson BA, Johannsson G, Svensson J 2009 Ten years of growth hormone (GH) replacement normalizes muscle strength in GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:809–816
- 73. Cenci MC, Soares DV, Spina LD, de Lima Oliveira Brasil RR, Lobo PM, Mansur VA, Gold J, Michmacher E, Vaisman M, Conceição FL 2009 Effects of five years of growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy on cardiac parameters and physical performance in adults with GH deficiency. Pituitary 12:322–329
- 74. Elgzyri T, Castenfors J, Hägg E, Backman C, Thorén M, Bramnert M 2004 The effects of GH replacement therapy on cardiac morphology and function, exercise capacity and serum lipids in elderly patients with GH deficiency. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 61:113–122
- 75. Hartman ML, Weltman A, Zagar A, Qualy RL, Hoffman AR, Merriam GR 2008 Growth hormone replacement therapy in adults with growth hormone deficiency improves maximal oxygen consumption independently of dosing regimen or physical activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:125–130
- Jørgensen JO, Thuesen L, Müller J, Ovesen P, Skakkebaek NE, Christiansen JS 1994 Three years of growth hormone treatment in growth hormone-deficient adults: near normalization of body composition and physical performance. Eur J Endocrinol 130: 224–228
- 77. Newman CB, Frisch KA, Rosenzweig B, Roubenoff R, Rey M, Kidder T, Kong Y, Pursnani A, Sedlis SP, Schwartzbard A, Kleinberg DL 2011 Moderate doses of hGH (0.64 mg/d) improve lipids but not cardiovascular function in GH-deficient adults with normal baseline cardiovascular function. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96: 122–132
- Boot AM, van der Sluis IM, Krenning EP, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM 2009 Bone mineral density and body composition in adolescents with childhood-onset growth hormone deficiency. Horm Res 71:364–371
- Conway GS, Szarras-Czapnik M, Racz K, Keller A, Chanson P, Tauber M, Zacharin M 2009 Treatment for 24 months with recombinant human GH has a beneficial effect on bone mineral density in young adults with childhood-onset GH deficiency. Eur J Endocrinol 160:899–907
- Nguyen VT, Misra M 2009 Transitioning of children with GH deficiency to adult dosing: changes in body composition. Pituitary 12:125–135

- Underwood LE, Attie KM, Baptista J 2003 Growth hormone (GH) dose-response in young adults with childhood-onset GH deficiency: a two-year, multicenter, multipledose, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:5273–5280
- 82. Johannsson G, Sverrisdóttir YB, Ellegård L, Lundberg PA, Herlitz H 2002 GH increases extracellular volume by stimulating sodium reabsorption in the distal nephron and preventing pressure natriuresis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:1743–1749
- 83. Valk NK, vd Lely AJ, de Herder WW, Lindemans J, Lamberts SW 1994 The effects of human growth hormone (GH) administration in GH-deficient adults: a 20-day metabolic ward study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 79:1070–1076
- 84. Badre-Esfahani S, Nellemann B, Danielsen D, Fisker S, Christiansen JS, Jørgensen JO 2007 Assessment of hydration by means of bioelectrical impedance and arm muscle area during growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy: a prospective study of 130 GH-deficient patients. Growth Horm IGF Res 17:227–233
- Holmes SJ, Economou G, Whitehouse RW, Adams JE, Shalet SM 1994 Reduced bone mineral density in patients with adult onset growth hormone deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 78:669–674
- 86. Murray RD, Columb B, Adams JE, Shalet SM 2004 Lowbone mass is an infrequent feature of the adult growth hormone deficiency syndrome in middle-age adults and the elderly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:1124–1130
- 87. Rosén T, Hansson T, Granhed H, Szucs J, Bengtsson BA 1993 Reduced bone mineral content in adult patients with growth hormone deficiency. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) 129:201–206
- 88. Kaufman JM, Taelman P, Vermeulen A, Vandeweghe M 1992 Bone mineral status in growth hormone-deficient males with isolated and multiple pituitary deficiencies of childhood onset. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 74:118–123
- 89. Lissett CA, Murray RD, Shalet SM 2002 Timing of onset of growth hormone deficiency is a major influence on insulin-like growth factor I status in adult life. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 57:35–40
- Colao A, Di Somma C, Pivonello R, Loche S, Aimaretti G, Cerbone G, Faggiano A, Corneli G, Ghigo E, Lombardi G 1999 Bone loss is correlated to the severity of growth hormone deficiency in adult patients with hypopituitarism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:1919–1924
- 91. Hyer SL, Rodin DA, Tobias JH, Leiper A, Nussey SS 1992 Growth hormone deficiency during puberty reduces adult bone mineral density. Arch Dis Child 67:1472–1474
- Bravenboer N, Holzmann P, de Boer H, Blok GJ, Lips P 1996 Histomorphometric analysis of bone mass and bone metabolism in growth hormone deficient adult men. Bone 18:551–557

- 93. Rosén T, Wilhelmsen L, Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Lappas G, Bengtsson BA 1997 Increased fracture frequency in adult patients with hypopituitarism and GH deficiency. Eur J Endocrinol 137: 240–245
- 94. Vestergaard P, Jørgensen JO, Hagen C, Hoeck HC, Laurberg P, Rejnmark L, Brixen K, Weeke J, Andersen M, Conceicao FL, Nielsen TL, Mosekilde L 2002 Fracture risk is increased in patients with GH deficiency or untreated prolactinomas—a case-control study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 56:159–167
- 95. Wüster C, Abs R, Bengtsson BA, Bennmarker H, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Hernberg-Stähl E, Monson JP, Westberg B, Wilton P 2001 The influence of growth hormone deficiency, growth hormone replacement therapy, and other aspects of hypopituitarism on fracture rate and bone mineral density. J Bone Miner Res 16:398–405
- 96. Baum HB, Biller BM, Finkelstein JS, Cannistraro KB, Oppenhein DS, Schoenfeld DA, Michel TH, Wittink H, Klibanski A 1996 Effects of physiologic growth hormone therapy on bone density and body composition in patients with adult-onset growth hormone deficiency. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 125:883–890
- 97. Hansen TB, Brixen K, Vahl N, Jørgensen JO, Christiansen JS, Mosekilde L, Hagen C 1996 Effects of 12 months of growth hormone (GH) treatment on calciotropic hormones, calcium homeostasis, and bone metabolism in adults with acquired GH deficiency: a double blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81:3352–3359
- 98. Holmes SJ, Whitehouse RW, Swindell R, Economou G, Adams JE, Shalet SM 1995 Effect of growth hormone replacement on bone mass in adults with adult onset growth hormone deficiency. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 42:627–633
- 99. Biller BM, Sesmilo G, Baum HB, Hayden D, Schoenfeld D, Klibanski A 2000 Withdrawal of long-term physiological growth hormone (GH) administration: differential effects on bone density and body composition in men with adult-onset GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:970–976
- 100. Shalet SM, Shavrikova E, Cromer M, Child CJ, Keller E, Zapletalová J, Moshang T, Blum WF, Chipman JJ, Quigley CA, Attanasio AF 2003 Effect of growth hormone (GH) treatment on bone in postpubertal GH-deficient patients: a 2-year randomized, controlled, dose-ranging study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:4124–4129
- 101. Johannsson G, Rosén T, Bosaeus I, Sjöström L, Bengtsson BA 1996 Two years of growth hormone (GH) treatment increases bone mineral content and density in hypopituitary patients with adult-onset GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81:2865–2873
- 102. Bex M, Abs R, Maiter D, Beckers A, Lamberigts G, Bouillon R 2002 The effects of growth hormone replacement therapy on bone metabolism in adult-onset growth hormone deficiency: a 2-year open randomized controlled multicenter trial. J Bone Miner Res 17:1081–1094

- 103. Drake WM, Rodríguez-Arnao J, Weaver JU, James IT, Coyte D, Spector TD, Besser GM, Monson JP 2001 The influence of gender on the short and long-term effects of growth hormone replacement on bone metabolism and bone mineral density in hypopituitary adults: a 5-year study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 54:525–532
- 104. Götherström G, Bengtsson BA, Bosaeus I, Johannsson G, Svensson J 2007 Ten-year GH replacement increases bone mineral density in hypopituitary patients with adult onset GH deficiency. Eur | Endocrinol 156:55–64
- 105. Biermasz NR, Hamdy NA, Pereira AM, Romijn JA, Roelfsema F 2004 Long-term skeletal effects of recombinant human growth hormone (rhGH) alone and rhGH combined with alendronate in GH-deficient adults: a seven-year followup study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 60:568–575
- 106. Olney RC 2003 Regulation of bone mass by growth hormone. Med Pediatr Oncol 41:228–234
- 107. Teegarden D, Proulx WR, Martin BR, Zhao J, McCabe GP, Lyle RM, Peacock M, Slemenda C, Johnston CC, Weaver CM 1995 Peak bone mass in young women. J Bone Miner Res 10:711–715
- 108. Baroncelli GI, Bertelloni S, Sodini F, Saggese G 2003 Acquisition of bone mass in normal individuals and in patients with growth hormone deficiency. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 16(Suppl 2):327–335
- 109. Baroncelli GI, Bertelloni S, Sodini F, Saggese G 2004 Longitudinal changes of lumbar bone mineral density (BMD) in patients with GH deficiency after discontinuation of treatment at final height; timing and peak values for lumbar BMD. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 60:175–184
- 110. Drake WM, Carroll PV, Maher KT, Metcalfe KA, Camacho-Hübner C, Shaw NJ, Dunger DB, Cheetham TD, Savage MO, Monson JP 2003 The effect of cessation of growth hormone (GH) therapy on bone mineral accretion in GH-deficient adolescents at the completion of linear growth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:1658–1663
- 111. Mukherjee A, Attanasio AF, Shalet SM 2003 Skeletal requirements for optimal growth hormone replacement in the transitional years. Growth Horm IGF Res 13(Suppl A):S130–S135
- 112. Mauras N, Pescovitz OH, Allada V, Messig M, Wajnrajch MP, Lippe B 2005 Limited efficacy of growth hormone (GH) during transition of GH-deficient patients from adolescence to adulthood: a phase III multicenter, double-blind, randomized two-year trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:3946–3955
- 113. Attanasio AF, Shavrikova E, Blum WF, Cromer M, Child CJ, Paskova M, Lebl J, Chipman JJ, Shalet SM 2004 Continued growth hormone (GH) treatment after final height is necessary to complete somatic development in childhood-onset GH-deficient patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:4857–4862

- 114. Carroll PV, Drake WM, Maher KT, Metcalfe K, Shaw NJ, Dunger DB, Cheetham TD, Camacho-Hübner C, Savage MO, Monson JP 2004 Comparison of continuation or cessation of growth hormone (GH) therapy on body composition and metabolic status in adolescents with severe GH deficiency at completion of linear growth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:3890–3895
- 115. Radovick S, DiVall S 2007 Approach to the growth hormonedeficient child during transition to adulthood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92:1195–1200
- 116. Abs R, Mattsson AF, Bengtsson BA, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Góth MI, Koltowska-Häggsträm M, Monson JP, Verhelst J, Wilton P 2005 Isolated growth hormone (GH) deficiency in adult patients: baseline clinical characteristics and responses to GH replacement in comparison with hypopituitary patients. A sub-analysis of the KIMS database. Growth Horm IGF Res 15:349–359
- 117. Böger RH, Skamira C, Bode-Böger SM, Brabant G, von zur Muhlen A, Frolich JC 1996 Nitric oxide may mediate the hemodynamic effects of recombinant growth hormone in patients with acquired growth hormone deficiency. A double-blind, placebocontrolled study. J Clin Invest 98:2706–2713
- 118. Smith JC, Evans LM, Wilkinson I, Goodfellow J, Cockcroft JR, Scanlon MF, Davies JS 2002 Effects of GH replacement on endothelial function and large-artery stiffness in GH-deficient adults: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 56:493–501
- 119. van der Klaauw AA, Pereira AM, Rabelink TJ, Corssmit EP, Zonneveld AJ, Pijl H, de Boer HC, Smit JW, Romijn JA, de Koning EJ 2008 Recombinant human GH replacement increases CD34+ cells and improves endothelial function in adults with GH deficiency. Eur J Endocrinol 159:105–111
- 120. Maison P, Griffin S, Nicoue-Beglah M, Haddad N, Balkau B, Chanson P 2004 Impact of growth hormone (GH) treatment on cardiovascular risk factors in GH-deficient adults: a metaanalysis of blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trials. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:2192–2199
- 121. Sesmilo G, Biller BM, Llevadot J, Hayden D, Hanson G, Rifai N, Klibanski A 2000 Effects of growth hormone administration on inflammatory and other cardiovascular risk markers in men with growth hormone deficiency. A randomized, controlled clinical trial. Ann Intern Med 133:111–122
- 122. Sesmilo G, Biller BM, Llevadot J, Hayden D, Hanson G, Rifai N, Klibanski A 2001 Effects of growth hormone (GH) administration on homocyst(e)ine levels in men with GH deficiency: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:1518–1524
- 123. Bollerslev J, Ueland T, Jørgensen AP, Fougner KJ, Wergeland R, Schreiner T, Burman P 2006 Positive effects of a physiological dose of GH on markers of atherogenesis: a placebo-controlled study in patients with adult-onset GH deficiency. Eur J Endocrinol 154: 537–543

- 124. Bengtsson BA, Abs R, Bennmarker H, Monson JP, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Hernberg-Stahl E, Westberg B, Wilton P, Wüster C 1999 The effects of treatment and the individual responsiveness to growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy in 665 GH-deficient adults. KIMS Study Group and the KIMS International Board. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:3929–3935
- 125. Abs R, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Mattsson AF, Monson JP, Bengtsson BA, Góth MI, Wilton P, Koltowska-Höggström M 2006 Determinants of cardiovascular risk in 2589 hypopituitary GH-deficient adults—a KIMS database analysis. Eur J Endocrinol 155:79–90
- 126. Attanasio AF, Lamberts SW, Matranga AM, Birkett MA, Bates PC, Valk NK, Hilsted J, Bengtsson BA, Strasburger CJ 1997 Adult growth hormone (GH)-deficient patients demonstrate heterogeneity between childhood onset and adult onset before and during human GH treatment. Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency Study Group. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:82–88
- 127. Colao A, Di Somma C, Salerno M, Spinelli L, Orio F, Lombardi G 2002 The cardiovascular risk of GH-deficient adolescents. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:3650–3655
- 128. Fideleff HL, Boquete HR, Stalldecker G, Giaccio AV, Sobrado PG 2008 Comparative results of a 4-year study on cardiovascular parameters, lipid metabolism, body composition and bone mass between untreated and treated adult growth hormone deficient patients. Growth Horm IGF Res 18:318–324
- 129. Kearney T, de Gallegos CN, Proudler A, Parker K, Anayaoku V, Bannister P, Venkatesan S, Johnston DG 2003 Effects of short- and long-term growth hormone replacement on lipoprotein composition and on very-low-density lipoprotein and low-density lipoprotein apolipoprotein B100 kinetics in growth hormone-deficient hypopituitary subjects. Metabolism 52:50–59
- 130. Colao A, Di Somma C, Filippella M, Rota F, Pivonello R, Orio F, Vitale G, Lombardi G 2004 Insulin-like growth factor-1 deficiency determines increased intima-media thickness at common carotid arteries in adult patients with growth hormone deficiency. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 61:360–366
- 131. Leonsson M, Hulthe J, Oscarsson J, Johannsson G, Wendelhag I, Wikstrand J, Bengtsson BA 2002 Intimamedia thickness in cardiovascularly asymptomatic hypopituitary adults with growth hormone deficiency: relation to body mass index, gender, and other cardiovascular risk factors. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 57:751–759
- 132. Murata M, Kaji H, Mizuno I, Sakurai T, Iida K, Okimura Y, Chihara K 2003 A study of carotid intima-media thickness in GHdeficient Japanese adults during onset among adults and children. Eur J Endocrinol 148:333–338
- 133. Borson-Chazot F, Serusclat A, Kalfallah Y, Ducottet X, Sassolas G, Bernard S, Labrousse F, Pastene J, Sassolas A, Roux Y, Berthzène F 1999 Decrease in carotid intima-media thickness after one year growth hormone (GH) treatment in adults with GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:1329–1333

- 134. Colao A, Di Somma C, Rota F, Di Maio S, Salerno M, Klain A, Spiezia S, Lombardi G 2005 Common carotid intimamedia thickness in growth hormone (GH)-deficient adolescents: a prospective study after GH withdrawal and restarting GH replacement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:2659–2665
- 135. Colao A, Di Somma C, Spiezia S, Savastano S, Rota F, Savanelli MC, Lombardi G 2008 Growth hormone treatment on atherosclerosis: results of a 5-year open, prospective, controlled study in male patients with severe growth hormone deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:3416–3424
- 136. Pfeifer M, Verhovec R, Zizek B, Prezelj J, Poredos P, Clayton RN 1999 Growth hormone (GH) treatment reverses early atherosclerotic changes in GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84: 453–457
- 137. Hodis HN, Mack WJ, LaBree L, Selzer RH, Liu CR, Liu CH, Azen SP 1998 The role of carotid arterial intima-media thickness in predicting clinical coronary events. Ann Intern Med 128:262–269
- 138. Colao A, di Somma C, Cuocolo A, Spinelli L, Tedesco N, Pivonello R, Bonaduce D, Salvatore M, Lombardi G 2001 Improved cardiovascular risk factors and cardiac performance after 12 months of growth hormone (GH) replacement in young adult patients with GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:1874–1881
- 139. Jallad RS, Liberman B, Vianna CB, VieiraML, Ramires JA, Knoepfelmacher M 2003 Effects of growth hormone replacement therapy on metabolic and cardiac parameters, in adult patients with childhood-onset growth hormone deficiency. Growth Horm IGF Res 13:81–88
- 140. Capalbo D, Lo Vecchio A, Farina V, Spinelli L, Palladino A, Tiano C, Lettiero T, Lombardi G, Colao A, Salerno M 2009 Subtle alterations of cardiac performance in children with growth hormone deficiency: results of a two-year prospective, case-control study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:3347–3355
- 141. Maison P, Chanson P 2003 Cardiac effects of growth hormone in adults with growth hormone deficiency: a metaanalysis. Circulation 108:2648–2652
- 142. Cho GY, Jeong IK, Kim SH, Kim MK, Park WJ, Oh DJ, Yoo HJ 2007 Effect of growth hormone on cardiac contractility in patients with adult onset growth hormone deficiency. Am J Cardiol 100: 1035–1039
- 143. Clemmons DR 2004 The relative roles of growth hormone and IGF-1 in controlling insulin sensitivity. J Clin Invest 113:25–27
- 144 al-Shoumer KA, Gray R, Anyaoku V, Hughes C, Beshyah S, Richmond W, Johnston DG 1998 Effects of four years' treatment with biosynthetic human growth hormone (GH) on glucose homeostasis, insulin secretion and lipid metabolism in GH-deficient adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 48:795–802
- 145. Svensson J, Fowelin J, Landin K, Bengtsson BA, Johansson JO 2002 Effects of seven years of GH-replacement therapy on insulin sensitivity in GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 2121–2127

- 146. Yuen K, Cook D, Ong K, Chatelain P, Fryklund L, Gluckman P, Ranke MB, Rosenfeld R, Dunger D 2002 The metabolic effects of short-term administration of physiological versus high doses of GH therapy in GH deficient adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 57:333–341
- 147. Segerlantz M, Bramnert M, Manhem P, Laurila E, Groop LC 2003 Inhibition of lipolysis during acute GH exposure increases insulin sensitivity in previously untreated GHdeficient adults. Eur J Endocrinol 149:511–519
- 148. Sherlock M, Ayuk J, Tomlinson JW, Toogood AA, Aragon-Alonso A, Sheppard MC, Bates AS, Stewart PM 2010 Mortality in patients with pituitary disease. Endocr Rev 31:301–342
- 149. Bates AS, Van't Hoff W, Jones PJ, Clayton RN 1996 The effect of hypopituitarism on life expectancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 81: 1169–1172
- 150. Bülow B, Hagmar L, Mikoczy Z, Nordström CH, Erfurth EM 1997 Increased cerebrovascular mortality in patients with hypopituitarism. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 46:75–81
- 151. Erfurth EM, Bulow B, Nordström CH, Mikoczy Z, Hagmar L, Strömberg U 2004 Doubled mortality rate in irradiated patients reoperated for regrowth of a macroadenoma of the pituitary gland. Eur J Endocrinol 150:497–502
- 152. **Kaji H, Chihara K** 2004 Direct causes of death in Japanese patients with hypopituitarism as analyzed from a nation-wide autopsy database. Eur J Endocrinol 150:149–152
- 153. Nilsson B, Gustavasson-Kadaka E, Bengtsson BA, Jonsson B 2000 Pituitary adenomas in Sweden between 1958 and 1991: incidence, survival, and mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:1420–1425
- 154. Rosén T, Bengtsson BA 1990 Premature mortality due to cardiovascular disease in hypopituitarism. Lancet 336:285–288
- 155. Tomlinson JW, Holden N, Hills RK, Wheatley K, Clayton RN, Bates AS, Sheppard MC, Stewart PM 2001 Association between premature mortality and hypopituitarism. West Midlands Prospective Hypopituitary Study Group. Lancet 357:425–431
- 156. Lindholm J, Nielsen EH, Bjerre P, Christiansen JS, Hagen C, Juul S, Jørgensen J, Kruse A, Laurberg P, Stochholm K 2006 Hypopituitarism and mortality in pituitary adenoma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 65:51–58
- 157. Stochholm K, Gravholt CH, Laursen T, Laurberg P, Andersen M, Kristensen LØ, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Christiansen JS, Frydenberg M, Green A 2007 Mortality and GH deficiency: a nationwide study. Eur J Endocrinol 157:9–18
- Nielsen EH, Lindholm J, Laurberg P 2007 Excess mortality in women with pituitary disease: a meta-analysis. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 67:693–697
- 159. Svensson J, Bengtsson BA, Rosén T, Odén A, Johannsson G 2004 Malignant disease and cardiovascular morbidity in hypopituitary adults with or without growth hormone replacement therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:3306–3312

- 160. Holmes SJ, McKenna SP, Doward LC, Hunt SM, Shalet SM 1995 Development of a questionnaire to assess the quality of life of adults with growth hormone deficiency. Endocrinol Metab 2:63–69
- 161. Rosilio M, Blum WF, Edwards DJ, Shavrikova EP, Valle D, Lamberts SW, Erfurth EM, Webb SM, Ross RJ, Chihara K, Henrich G, Herschbach P, Attanasio AF 2004 Long-term improvement of quality of life during growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy in adults with GH deficiency, as measured by questions on life satisfaction-hypopituitarism (QLS-H). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:1684–1693
- 162. Holmes SJ, Shalet SM 1995 Factors influencing the desire for longterm growth hormone replacement in adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 43:151–157
- 163. Koltowska-Haggstrom M, Mattsson AF, Shalet SM 2009 Assessment of quality of life in adult patients with GH deficiency: KIMS contribution to clinical practice and pharmacoeconomic evaluations. Eur J Endocrinol 161 (Suppl 1):S51–S64
- 164. Baum HB, Katznelson L, Sherman JC, Biller BM, Hayden DL, Schoenfeld DA, Cannistraro KE, Klibanski A 1998 Effects of physiological growth hormone (GH) therapy on cognition and quality of life in patients with adult-onset GHdeficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:3184–3189
- Murray RD, Shalet SM 2002 Adult growth hormone replacement: lessons learned and future direction. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 4427–4428
- 166. Murray RD, Skillicorn CJ, Howell SJ, Lissett CA, Rahim A, Smethurst LE, Shalet SM 1999 Influences on quality of life in GH deficient adults and their effect on response to treatment. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 51:565–573
- 167. Moock J, Albrecht C, Friedrich N, Völzke H, Nauck M, Koltowska-Haggström M, Kohlmann T, Wallaschofski H 2009 Health-related quality of life and IGF-1 in GH-deficient adult patients on GH replacement therapy: analysis of the German KIMS data and the Study of Health in Pomerania. Eur J Endocrinol 160:17–24
- 168. Hoybye C, Jönsson P, Monson JP, Koltowska-Häggström M, Hána V, Geffner M, Abs R 2007 Impact of the primary aetiology upon the clinical outcome of adults with childhood-onset GH deficiency. Eur J Endocrinol 157:589–596
- 168. Kreitschmann-Andermahr I, Poll EM, Reineke A, Gilsbach JM, Brabant G, Buchfelder M, Fassbender W, Faust M, Kann PH, Wallaschofski H 2008 Growth hormone deficient patients after traumatic brain injury—baseline characteristics and benefits after growth hormone replacement. An analysis of the German KIMS database. Growth Horm IGF Res 18:472–478
- 170. Gilchrist FJ, Murray RD, Shalet SM 2002 The effect of long-term untreated growth hormone deficiency (GHD) and 9 years of GH replacement on the quality of life (QoL) of GH-deficient adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 57:363–370

- 171. Wexler T, Gunnell L,OmerZ, Kuhlthau K, Beauregard C, Graham G, Utz AL, Biller B, Nachtigall L, Loeffler J, Swearingen B, Klibanski A, Miller KK 2009 Growth hormone deficiency is associated with decreased quality of life in patients with prior acromegaly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:2471–2477
- 172. Ronchi CL, Giavoli C, Ferrante E, Verrua E, Bergamaschi S, Ferrari DI, Corbetta S, Montefusco L, Arosio M, Ambrosi B, Spada A, Beck-Peccoz P 2009 Prevalence of GH deficiency in cured acromegalic patients: impact of different previous treatments. Eur J Endocrinol 161:37–42
- 173. Miller KK, Wexler T, Fazeli P, Gunnell L, Graham GJ, Beauregard C, Hemphill L, Nachtigall L, Loeffler J, Swearingen B, Biller BM, Klibanski A 2010 Growth hormone deficiency after treatment of acromegaly: a randomized, placebo-controlled study of growth hormone replacement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95:567–577
- 174. Norrman LL, Johannsson G, Sunnerhagen KS, Svensson J 2008 Baseline characteristics and the effects of two years of growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy in adults with GH deficiency previously treated for acromegaly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:2531–2538
- 175. van der Klaauw AA, Bax JJ, Roelfsema F, Stokkel MP, Bleeker GB, Biermasz NR, Smit JW, Romijn JA, Pereira AM 2009 Limited effects of growth hormone replacement in patients with GH deficiency during long-term cure of acromegaly. Pituitary 12:339–346
- Svensson J, Bengtsson BA 2009 Safety aspects of GH replacement. Eur J Endocrinol 161(Suppl 1):S65–S74
- 177. Fradkin JE, Mills JL, Schonberger LB, Wysowski DK, Thomson R, Durako SJ, Robison LL 1993 Risk of leukemia after treatment with pituitary growth hormone. JAMA 270:2829–2832
- 178. Bell J, Parker KL, Swinford RD, Hoffman AR, Maneatis T, Lippe B 2010 Long-term safety of recombinant human growth hormone in children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 95:167–177
- 179. Swerdlow AJ, Higgins CD, Adlard P, Preece MA 2002 Risk of cancer in patients treated with human pituitary growth hormone in the UK, 1959–85: a cohort study. Lancet 360:273–277
- 180. Ergun-Longmire B, Mertens AC, Mitby P, Qin J, Heller G, Shi W, Yasui Y, Robison LL, Sklar CA 2006 Growth hormone treatment and risk of second neoplasms in the childhood cancer survivor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:3494–3498
- 181. Darendeliler F, Karagiannis G, Wilton P, Ranke MB, Albertsson-Wikland K, Anthony Price D, on behalf of the KIGS International Board 2006 Recurrence of brain tumours in patients treated with growth hormone: analysis of KIGS (Pfizer International Growth Database). Acta Paediatr 95:1284–1290

- 182. Arnold JR, Arnold DF, Marland A, Karavitaki N, Wass JA 2009 GH replacement in patients with non-functioning pituitary adenoma (NFA) treated solely by surgery is not associated with increased risk of tumour recurrence. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 70:435–438
- 183. Buchfelder M, Kann PH, Wüster C, Tuschy U, Saller B, Brabant G, Kleindienst A, Nomikos P 2007 Influence of GH substitution therapy in deficient adults on the recurrence rate of hormonally inactive pituitary adenomas: a case control study. Eur J Endocrinol 157: 149–156
- 184. Chung TT, Drake WM, Evanson J, Walker D, Plowman PN, Chew SL, Grossman AB, Besser GM, Monson JP 2005 Tumour surveillance imaging in patients with extrapituitary tumours receiving growth hormone replacement. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 63:274–279
- 185. Frajese G, Drake WM, Loureiro RA, Evanson J, Coyte D, Wood DF, Grossman AB, Besser GM, Monson JP 2001 Hypothalamopituitary surveillance imaging in hypopituitary patients receiving long-term GH replacement therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86: 5172–5175
- 186. Hatrick AG, Boghalo P, Bingham JB, Ayres AB, Sonksen PH, Russell-Jones DL 2002 Does GH replacement therapy in adult GH-deficient patients result in recurrence or increase in size of pituitary tumours? Eur J Endocrinol 146:807–811
- 187. Jostel A, Mukherjee A, Hulse PA, Shalet SM 2005 Adult growth hormone replacement therapy and neuroimaging surveillance in brain tumour survivors. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 62:698–705
- 188. Karavitaki N, Warner JT, Marland A, Shine B, Ryan F, Arnold J, Turner HE, Wass JA 2006 GH replacement does not increase the risk of recurrence in patients with cranio-pharyngioma. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 64:556–560
- 189. Olsson DS, Buchfelder M, Schlaffer S, Bengtsson BA, Jakobsson KE, Johannsson G, Nilsson AG 2009 Comparing progression of non-functioning pituitary adenomas in hypopituitarism patients with and without long-term GH replacement therapy. Eur J Endocrinol 161:663–669
- 190. Jenkins PJ, Mukherjee A, Shalet SM 2006 Does growth hormone cause cancer? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 64:115–121
- 191. Hansen R, Koller EA, Malozowski S 2000 Full remission of growth hormone (GH)-induced retinopathy after GH treatment discontinuation: long-term follow-up. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:2627
- 192. Koller EA, Green L, Gertner JM, Bost M, Malozowski SN 1998 Retinal changes mimicking diabetic retinopathy in two nondiabetic, growth hormone-treated patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:2380–2383
- 193. Koller EA, Green L, Malozowski S 2000 Comment on growth hormone therapy and retinal changes mimicking diabetic retinopathy [letter]. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:923
- 194. Radetti G, Gentili L, Lepidi M 2000 Comment on growth hormone therapy and retinal changes mimicking diabetic retinopathy [letter]. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:923

- 195. Malozowski S, Tanner LA, Wysowski DK, Fleming GA, Stadel BV 1995 Benign intracranial hypertension in children with growth hormone deficiency treated with growth hormone. J Pediatr 126: 996–999
- 196. Malozowski S, Tanner LA, Wysowski D, Fleming GA 1993 Growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor I, and benign intracranial hypertension. N Engl J Med 329:665–666
- 197. Blackman MR, Sorkin JD, Münzer T, Bellantoni MF, Busby-Whitehead J, Stevens TE, Jayme J, O'Connor KG, Christmas C, Tobin JD, Stewart KJ, Cottrell E, St Clair C, Pabst KM, Harman SM 2002 Growth hormone and sex steroid administration in healthy aged women and men: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 288:2282–2292
- 198. Cohn L, Feller AG, Draper MW, Rudman IW, Rudman D 1993 Carpal tunnel syndrome and gynaecomastia during growth hormone treatment of elderly men with low circulating IGF-I concentrations. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 39:417–425
- 199 Losa M, Scavini M, Gatti E, Rossini A, Madaschi S, Formenti I, Caumo A, Stidley CA, Lanzi R 2008 Long-term effects of growth hormone replacement therapy on thyroid function in adults with growth hormone deficiency. Thyroid 18:1249–1254
- 200. Porretti S, Giavoli C, Ronchi C, Lombardi G, Zaccaria M, Valle D, Arosio M, Beck-Peccoz P 2002 Recombinant human GH replacement therapy and thyroid function in a large group of adult GHdeficient patients: when does L-T(4) therapy become mandatory? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:2042–2045
- 201. Giavoli C, Libé R, Corbetta S, Ferrante E, Lania A, Arosio M, Spada A, Beck-Peccoz P 2004 Effect of recombinanthumangrowth hormone (GH) replacement on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in adult GH-deficient patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:5397–5401
- 202. Hoffman AR, Strasburger CJ, Zagar A, Blum WF, Kehely A, Hartman ML 2004 Efficacy and tolerability of an individualized dosing regimen for adult growth hormone replacement therapy in comparison with fixed body weight-based dosing. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:3224–3233
- 203. Kehely A, Bates PC, Frewer P, Birkett M, Blum WF, Mamessier P, Ezzat S, Ho KK, Lombardi G, Luger A, Marek J, Russell-Jones D, Sönksen P, Attanasio AF 2002 Shortterm safety and efficacy of human GH replacement therapy in 595 adults with GH deficiency: a comparison of two dosage algorithms. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:1974–1979
- 204. Holmes SJ, Shalet SM 1995 Which adults develop side effects of growth hormone replacement? Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 43:143–149
- 205. Thuesen L, Jørgensen JO, Müller JR, Kristensen BO, Skakkebaek NE, Vahl N, Christiansen JS 1994 Short and long-term cardiovascular effects of growth hormone therapy in growth hormone deficient adults. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 41:615–620
- Birzniece V, Sata A, Ho KK 2009 Growth hormone receptor modulators. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 10:145–156

- 207. Burman P, Johansson AG, Siegbahn A, Vessby B, Karlsson FA 1997 Growth hormone (GH)-deficient men are more responsive to GH replacement therapy than women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82:550–555
- 208. Cook DM, Ludlam WH, Cook MB 1999 Route of estrogen administration helps to determine growth hormone (GH) replacement dose in GH-deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84: 3956–3960
- Columb B, Smethurst LE, Mukherjee A, Jostel A, Shalet SM, Murray RD 2009 GH sensitivity of GH-deficient adults is dependent on gender but not timing of onset. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 70:281–286
- 210. Wassenaar MJ, Dekkers OM, Pereira AM, Wit JM, Smit JW, Biermasz NR, Romijn JA 2009 Impact of the exon 3-deleted growth hormone (GH) receptor polymorphism on baseline height and the growth response to recombinant human GH therapy in GH-deficient (GHD) and non-GHD children with short stature: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94:3721–3730
- 211. Adetunji OR, MacFarlane IA, Javadpour M, Alfirevic A, Pirmohamed M, Blair JC 2009 The d3/fl-GH receptor gene polymorphism does not influence quality of life and body composition in GH-deficient adults receiving GH replacement therapy. Eur J Endocrinol 161:541–546

- 212. Barbosa EJ, Palming J, Glad CA, Filipsson H, Koranyi J, Bengtsson BA, Carlsson LM, Boguszewski CL, Johannsson G 2009 Influence of the exon 3-deleted/full-length growth hormone (GH) receptor polymorphism on the response to GH replacement therapy in adults with severe GH deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 94: 639–644
- 213. Meyer S, Schaefer S, Stolk L, Arp P, Uitterlinden AG, Plöckinger U, Stalla GK, Tuschy U, Weber MM, Weise A, Pfützner A, Kann PH 2009 Association of the exon 3 deleted/full-length GHR polymorphism with recombinant growth hormone dose in growth hormone-deficient adults. Pharmacogenomics 10:1599–1608
- 214. van der Klaauw AA, van der Straaten T, Baak-Pablo R, Biermasz NR, Guchelaar HJ, Pereira AM, Smit JW, Romijn JA 2008 Influence of the d3-growth hormone (GH) receptor isoform on shortterm and long-term treatment response toGHreplacement in GH deficient adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93:2828–2834
- 215. Dos Santos C, Essioux L, Teinturier C, Tauber M, Goffin V, Bougnères P 2004 A common polymorphism of the growth hormone receptor is associated with increased responsiveness to growth hormone. Nat Genet 36:720–724
- 216. Jorge AA, Arnhold IJ 2009 Growth hormone receptor exon 3 isoforms and their implication in growth disorders and treatment. Horm Res 71(Suppl 2):55–63

Acknowledgments

The members of the Task Force thank the members of the Clinical Guidelines Subcommittee, the Clinical Affairs Core Committee, and The Endocrine Society Council for their careful, critical review of earlier versions of this manuscript and their helpful comments and suggestions. In addition, we thank the many members of The Endocrine Society who reviewed the draft version of this manuscript when it was posted on the Society Web site and who sent a great number of additional comments and suggestions, most of which were incorporated into the final version of the manuscript. Finally, we thank the staff at The Endocrine Society office for their helpful support during the development of this Guideline.

Financial Disclosures of the Task Force

Mark E. Molitch, M.D. (chair)—Financial or Business/Organizational Interests: Eli Lilly, Co., American Diabetes Association, American College of Physicians, Pituitary Society, Sanofi Aventis, Ipsen, Corcept; Significant Financial Interest or Leadership Position: none declared. David R. Clemmons, M.D.—Financial or Business/Organizational Interests: Pfizer, Inc., Genentech, Inc., Lilly Inc., Ipsen Inc.; Significant Financial Interest or Leadership Position: none declared. Saul Malozowski, M.D.—Financial or Business/Organizational Interests: none declared; Significant Financial Interest or Leadership Position: none declared. George R. Merriam, M.D.—Financial or Business/Organizational Interests: America Neuroendocrine Society, National Institutes of Health, Washington State Health Department; Significant Financial Interest or Leadership Position: Novo Nordisk, Inc., Eli Lilly, Co., American Neuroendocrine Society. Mary Lee Vance, M.D.—Financial or Business/Organizational Interests: Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Ipsen; Significant Financial Interest or Leadership Position: none declared.



O Administrator

O Basic Researcher

O Clinical Practitione

O Clinical Researcher

O Industry/Corporate Professional

O Nurse/Healthcare Professional

8401 Connecticut Avenue, Suite 900 Chevy Chase, MD 20815-5817 Phone 301.941.0210; Fax 301.941.0257 societyservices@endo-society.org

FEIN 73-0521256

THE ENDOCRINE SOCIETY

GUIDELINE ORDER FORM

(Single reprint request for orders of 100 and fewer)

PRODUCTS		QTY	PRICE (USD)			SUBTOTAL	
			Member	No	Non-Member		
Androgen Therapy in Women*			\$15.00		\$20.00		
Case Detection, Diagnosis & Treatment of Patients with Primary Aldosteronism		sm	\$15.00	4	20.00		
Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia Due to Steroid 21-hydroxylase Deficiency		/	\$15.00	\$	\$20.00		
The Diagnosis of Cushing's Syndrome			\$15.00	9	20.00		
Diagnosis & Treatment of Hyperprolactinemia			\$15.00	\$	\$20.00		
Endocrine & Nutritional Management of the Post-bariatric Surgery Patient			\$15.00	\$	\$20.00		
Evaluation & Management of Adult Hypoglycemic Disorders			\$15.00		20.00		
Evaluation &	Treatment of Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency (with CME)		\$25.00 \$30.00		\$30.00		
Evaluation &	Treatment of Hirsutism in Premenopausal Women		\$15.00 \$20.00		20.00		
Endocrine Treatment of Transsexual Persons			\$15.00 \$20.00		20.00		
Management of Thyroid Dysfunction during Pregnancy & Postpartum*			Executive Summary (MMTD07)—\$10.0		ive Summary 07)—\$15.00		
			Guideline (MTSD07) \$10.00		e (MTSD07)— \$15.00		
Pituitary Incidentaloma			\$15.00	\$	20.00		
Prevention & Treatment of Pediatric Obesity			\$15.00	\$	\$20.00		
Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease & Type 2 Diabetes in Patients at Metabolic Risk			\$15.00	4	\$20.00		
Testosterone Therapy in Adult Men with Androgen Deficiency Syndromes (with CME)			\$25.00	\$	\$30.00		
TOTAL			All prices include sales tax		\$		
,	available on this guideline. See the Special Order Form locate INFORMATION: O Check O Mo	asterCard	O Visa Expiration Date				
Billing Address			Signature				
Are you a me	ember of The Endocrine Society? O Yes O N		Signatore				
Prefix:	First Name (Given):	Middle:		Last (Surname):			
Institution/Con	npany:	Dept/Div:	Pept/Div:				
Street/PO:							
City: State/Province:		nce:	Zip/Mail Code:	Country:			
Telephone: Fax		Fax:		Email:			
Degree(s) that you would like listed after your name:		Professional	Title:	Date of Birth:	Gender: O Male	O Female	
Which of the following best describes your primary professional ro (Please mark only one)		l role?	Race or Ethnic Affiliation (voluntary) O African American, Black				

O Asian

O Hispanic

O Other

O Pacific Islander

O White, Caucasian

O Native American, Eskimo, Aleut

O Retired

O Student

O Other

O Teacher/Educator

O Fellow (Postdoctoral/Research)

O Fellow (Clinical)

What goes into our

Clinical Guidelines

is a story worth telling

Originally published in May 2006, the *Evaluation and Treatment* of Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency guideline has been updated to reflect new recommendations in this field. As with the original version, this update is evidence-based and has been vetted through a multi-step peer review process. In addition, The Endocrine Society has added an educational component to this guideline and the reader may now earn up to 2.0 AMA PRA Category 1 CreditsTM.

The updated Evaluation and Treatment of Adult Growth Hormone Deficiency Guideline includes:

- New Information on Who is Growth Hormone Deficient
- Information on the Diagnosis of Growth Hormone Deficiency
- Information on the Risks and Benefits of Treatment with Growth Hormone in Growth Hormone Deficient Patients
- Treatment Regimens

Other Endocrine Society Guidelines COMING SOON

- Continuous Glucose Monitoring
- Vitamin D
- Hypertriglyceridemia
- Management of Hospital Patients with Diabetes Mellitus
- Osteoporosis in Men
- Medical, Nutritional & Pharmacologic Management of Obesity
- Paget's Disease of the Bone
- PCOS
- Hypothalamic Amenorrhea
- Hyponatremia
- Diabetes & Pregnancy

Endocrine Society Clinical Guidelines ALSO AVAILABLE

- Pituitary Incidentaloma
- NEW
- Diagnosis & Treatment of Hyperprolactinemia
- Congenital Adrenal Hyperplasia Due to Steroid 21-hydroxylase Deficiency
- Endocrine and Nutritional Management of the Post-Bariatric Surgery Patient
- Endocrine Treatment of Transsexual Persons
- Evaluation and Management of Adult Hypoglycemic Disorders
- Prevention and Treatment of Pediatric Obesity
- Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease and Type 2 Diabetes in Patients at Metabolic Risk
- Case Detection, Diagnosis, and Treatment of Patients with Primary Aldosteronism
- The Diagnosis of Cushing's Syndrome
- Evaluation and Treatment of Hirsutism in Premenopausal Women
- Management of Thyroid Dysfunction during Pregnancy & Postpartum
- Androgen Therapy in Women
- Testosterone Therapy in Adult Men with Androgen Deficiency Syndromes



To purchase the available guidelines visit:

www.endo-society.org/guidelines/Current-Clinical-Practice-Guidelines.cfm.

To view patient guides (companion pieces to the clinical guidelines) visit

To view patient guides (companion pieces to the clinical guidelines), visit
The Hormone Foundation's Web site at www.hormone.org/public/patientguides.cfm.

Visit **www.guidelinecentral.com** to purchase pocket cards developed from select Endocrine Society guidelines.



Commercial Reprint Information

For information on reprint requests of 101 and more and commercial reprints contact:

Karen Burkhardt Walchli Tauber Group Inc

Phone: 443.512.8899, ext. 111

Email: Karen.burkhardt@wt-group.com

Single Reprint Information

For information on reprints of 100 and fewer, complete the guideline order form and return using one of the following methods:

Mail: The Endocrine Society

PO Box 17020

Baltimore, MD 21297-1020

Fax: 301.941.0257

Email: Societyservices@endo-society.org

Questions & Correspondences

The Endocrine Society Attn: Government & Public Affairs Department 8401 Connecticut Avenue, Suite 900 Chevy Chase, MD 20815

Phone: 301.941.0200

Email: govt-prof@endo-society.org Web: www.endo-society.org

For more information on The Endocrine Society's Clinical Practice Guidelines, visit: http://www.endo-society.org/guidelines/index.cfm

To view patient guides (companion pieces to the clinical practice guidelines) visit The Hormone Foundation's website at: http://www.hormone.org/Resources/patientguides.cfm.

Visit http://www.guidelinecentral.com to purchase pocket cards developed from select Endocrine Society guidelines.





The Endocrine Society 8401 Connecticut Avenue, Suite 900 Chevy Chase, MD 20815

> 301.941.0200 www.endo-society.org